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Vision, Mission and Values

Vision

Swan TAFE’s vision is to be recognised as Australia’s foremost 

quality vocational education and training provider.

Mission

Swan TAFE’s mission is to be the training provider of choice 

delivering quality education and training that assists individuals and 

communities to achieve their goals.

Values

Swan TAFE operates with the following values:

Customer Service – we will endeavour to provide services that are:

• Friendly and courteous;

• Prompt and responsive;

• Equitable; and

• Professional, efficient and ethical.

Innovation – we will support entrepreneurship and creativity to 

nurture a culture of sustained improvement.

Sustainability – we will work to ensure that Swan TAFE operations 

and activities are sustainable and undertaken with a view to protect 

the environment, promoting social advancement and contributing to 

economic prosperity.

Quality – we will endeavour to provide the products and services 

that clients want, when they want them, where they want them and 

how they want them.

Integrity – we will conduct the College’s business in an ethical, 

open and honest manner that treats clients and colleagues alike 

with respect and understanding.

Diversity – we will recognise and build on the strengths and 

understanding that comes from working with and for, people from 

different backgrounds, circumstances and life experiences.
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Chair of Governing Council
It is my pleasure to present Swan TAFE’s Annual Report for 2006, a successful year 
of exceptional achievement for the College supported with continually advancing 
professional and academic standards, decisive leadership and a continued 
emphasis on excellence.

A highlight for this year was Swan TAFE’s win as Western Australia’s Large Training 
Provider of the Year. This award recognises the College’s pivotal role in addressing 
the State’s skill shortages as well as meeting the broader economic and social 
needs of the State. Swan TAFE was also one of three finalists in the Australian 
Large Training Provider of the Year Award.

In both 2005 and 2006 Swan TAFE successfully delivered 100% of its contracted delivery (profile), 
something that had previously never been achieved by any of the colleges/campuses that now form 
Swan TAFE. This outstanding accomplishment, in two consecutive years, further validates the success 
of the re-engineering processes that were installed into Swan TAFE by the Corporate Executive and 
Governing Council, to ensure Swan TAFE remains as a leader in the provision of vocational education 
and training (VET).

Swan TAFE currently services about 29,000 students. The College is the largest provider of 
apprenticeships and traineeships in Western Australia with over 33% of the State’s total. Over the past 
three years, Swan TAFE has experienced a 35% increase in apprenticeship numbers with a huge 20% 
of this in the past year alone and this trend is expected to continue. 

The unprecedented growth and success of Swan TAFE has demanded that detailed and specific strategic 
planning be undertaken by the College to ensure appropriate human and physical resources and 
infrastructure suitability are available to meet the ongoing, often changing, demands of the community 
and industry. This clear vision and strategic direction are key factors in the current and expected future 
success of the College and, coupled with appropriate risk management, is fully supported by the 
Governing Council.

In addition to the outstanding success stories from Swan TAFE throughout 2006, our emphasis on 
engagement with industry partners and the establishment of international partnerships and collaborations 
continued to develop the College positively.

Swan TAFE hosted many cultural exchange and study programs from international education bodies 
and Governments and also held a staff exchange program with Kagawa University in Japan. Our 
collaboration with various educational, training and community organisations in China, Japan, South-
East Asia, South Africa and the Middle East, where our relationships are bringing increasing benefits 
to the College, recognises the importance of a global knowledge economy and our positioning to be a 
valuable part of such international links and collaborations. 

Throughout the year, Swan TAFE responded to major State and Federal Government policies, such 
as those concerning criminal screening, workplace reform, funding issues and the shared services 
regime.

It is a credit to the staff of the College that their ‘can-do’ attitude ensures the hurdles put before them 
are dealt with and allow the College to continue contributing significantly to the growth and impact of 
our training delivery.

Reflecting on the position of the College as I complete my first year as Chair, I believe that the work of my 
colleagues on the College’s Governing Council, the strong strategic focus of the Corporate Executive 
and, the outstanding commitment of staff at all levels ensures the College remains a functional and 
essential resource for the communities which it serves.

I would like to extend my personal thanks to all members of the Governing Council, the Managing 
Director and his Executives, the staff of the College and the students, for making my experience as 
Chair of this College both inspiring and rewarding.

 

Keith Vuleta 
Chair of the Governing Council
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Managing Director’s Report
2006 has been an exceptionally successful year for Swan TAFE.  The College 
continues to face the many challenges that have emerged from the current 
climate of rapid growth and demand for skills being experienced across the State.  
Despite these challenges the College has maintained its commitment to providing 
quality training services to our stakeholders. Evidence of this commitment has 
been recognised in an array of accolades awarded to all levels of the organisation 
including our students, lecturers and, the College as a whole. 

The College has continued to consolidate the benefits emerging from the 
organisational structure. The changed strategies and commitment to the 

implementation of a team-based culture have become evident.  The outcomes have been reassuring 
and extremely rewarding, exposing a refreshing upsurge of positive perceptions amongst staff, students 
and stakeholders alike, relating to our corporate identity, organisational purpose and future directions.

The Swan TAFE brand continues to expand its reach within the community, reaffirming our market 
share stronghold and further enhancing confidence and meaningful relationships with our customers.

Swan TAFE has, in its role as the largest trade training provider in the State, contributed significantly 
to meeting the workforce demands of a booming State economy.  The demand for skilled workers 
has resulted in major investments by Swan TAFE in new equipment, facilities and lecturing staff.  This 
investment will continue to pay dividends to the State for many years and every effort is being made to 
ensure this momentum continues in 2007.

The College continues to develop its many international partnerships in areas including China, Japan, 
Singapore, Reunion Island and Oman.  A new market and potential partnership with Northlink College 
in South Africa has also emerged.  The secondments of lecturers Rob Taylor (Cooking) and Janis Malin 
(English) to Kagawa Nutritional College in Japan were also highlights.

The success of our students continued during 2006. The College produced WorldSkills gold medal 
winners John Alebakis (Wall and Floor Tiling) and Simon Goldsborough (Retail Baking and Bread); silver 
medal winners Leon Barradell (Meat Retailing) and Russell Blythe (Cabinet Making) and bronze medal 
winners Conan Cordin (Painting and Decorating) and Laura Chapman (Restaurant Services). Gold medal 
winner John Alebakis will further represent Australia in the International WorldSkills championships to 
be held in Shizuoka, Japan in November 2007. These students could not have achieved this level of 
success without the mentoring and skill support provided by our lecturing staff.  

This year’s Geof Gale Medal was presented to Teresa Ingrilli (Multimedia) and Chloe Howard (Hospitality) 
with a high commendation awarded to Jay Bunton (Fabrication – Vehicle Body Building).

Swan TAFE’s fashion students again highlighted the tremendous success of our fashion studies and 
garment production programs with seven Swan TAFE students placing in nine categories at the Perth 
Fashion Awards. Student Sandra Banken was awarded the Sunday Times Magazine (STM) Supreme 
Student of the Year.

Other successes were bestowed on our students at the Air Conditioning and Mechanical Contractors 
Awards, the Cleaning Industry Awards, the Master Builder Awards and the Motor Trade Awards where 
Swan TAFE student Gabrielle Abel was awarded WA Motor Apprentice of the Year.  Swan TAFE students 
were also finalists in the 2006 Western Australian Training Awards.

Many of our staff members were also recognised for their outstanding contributions. Lecturers Kieron 
Browne (Electronics), Peter Geutjes (Fitting and Machining), Margaret Reid (Access and Community 
Services), Andre Watson (Fitness), Felicity Haldane (Access and Community Services), Michael 
Levissianos (Spoken and Written English), Richard Knight (Business, Finance and Computing) and 
Adele Newton (Flexible Learning) were all finalists in the Premier’s Teacher of the Year Awards for 
2006. 

Swan TAFE’s high representation in these awards, demonstrates the College’s dedication to providing 
the highest possible standard of training delivery across a diversity of delivery areas.

2006 was also incredibly successful for the College as a whole. Swan TAFE was awarded top place 
in the Outstanding Provider and Best Program categories at the Adult Learners Week Awards and the 
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College was also nominated in the Premier’s Awards for Excellence.  Swan TAFE’s successes for 2006 
culminated in the College being named Western Australia’s Large Training Provider of the Year and, 
subsequently, Swan TAFE was one of three finalists for the Australian Training Provider of the Year 
Award. These awards all recognise the achievements of our College lecturing and support staff.  

As a College, Swan TAFE has made a significant investment in the development of its staff through the 
Leadership Development Program, Wellness Strategy, Lecturer Induction Program and Swan Computer 
Drivers License (SCDL). This commitment to developing our learning organisation culture has direct 
benefits to both our internal and external clients.  

I was pleased with the success of Swan TAFE’s annual ‘Quality Day’, a two-day professional development 
event which all staff are encouraged to participate in. Post event evaluations were extremely positive 
with staff rating their satisfaction levels extremely high. The event comprised a full day seminar and 
workshop at the Burswood Convention Centre, where world renowned guest speaker Robyn Moore 
addressed staff on various communication, training and professional development aspects. This was 
followed by a full day of planning for individual divisions to set the scene for 2007.  

I wish to thank the Governing Council for their professional and strategic input into the College and 
in particular I want to sincerely thank Keith Vuleta (Chair) and Bruce Hawley (Deputy Chair) for their 
leadership throughout 2006.  I would also like to sincerely thank all Swan TAFE staff for their commitment 
and professionalism to our students and in developing Swan TAFE as a market leader in VET.  

With the many successes of 2006 as a benchmark for performance, I am looking forward to the 
prospects 2007 holds and I am confident the College is prepared with the enthusiasm and expertise 
necessary to ensure we maintain our position as the ‘provider of choice’.

 

Wayne Collyer 
Managing Director
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Governing Council Profiles

Chair, Governing Council - Term expires 31 December 2009
Keith Vuleta

Keith is a chartered accountant and has been a member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia for 20 years.

Keith has the role of Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary for a number of 
public companies, including ASX listed Monarch Gold Mining Company Limited. He 
has extensive experience in senior financial management and company secretarial 
roles in the mining, construction, engineering and financial services industries. 

He is principally experienced in areas of finance, system policies and controls, financial reporting, 
governance, risk management and compliance.

He was first appointed to the Governing Council of the former Midland College of TAFE in 2001and has 
been a member of the Governing Council of Swan TAFE since its inception. Keith is also a member of 
the Swan TAFE Audit Committee and the Finance Committee.

Although Keith’s appointment is as a member of the Governing Council, Keith served in the role of 
Acting Chairman during 2006.

Deputy Chair, Governing Council - Term expires 31 December 2007
Bruce Hawley

Bruce and his wife own Western Geotechnics Pty Ltd and have offices in Kalgoorlie, 
Port Hedland, Karratha and Welshpool.

Bruce is a member of Canning Chambers and is also on the Joint Management 
Group for the Office of Crime Prevention in the local area.

He has worked in the private sector for the past 25 years as a consultant in South 
East Asia.  Although he has little exposure to VET, he has studied extensively in a post graduate 
situation through distance education.

He is currently developing a training package with the assistance of Central TAFE to offer certificate I, 
II, III, and IV plus diploma levels for Soils Technicians within his company.

Managing Director, Swan TAFE, Governing Council Member
Wayne Collyer

Wayne held the position of Managing Director for Central West College of TAFE 
for ten years prior to his successful appointment, in August 2004, as Managing 
Director of Swan TAFE.  Wayne was instrumental in gaining Central West College of 
TAFE the prestigious title of Western Australian Large Training Provider of the Year 
at both the 2002 and 2003 WA Training Excellence Awards.

Wayne has had extensive experience in the Queensland TAFE sector as a lecturer, senior teacher, 
campus manager, officer in charge of adult community education and, as associate director.

As a leader of change in these positions, Wayne has demonstrated best practice strategies for change in 
organisational culture, role modelling, developing appropriate change processes, provision of effective 
communication and consultation mechanisms and evaluation of performance outcomes to identify 
continuous improvement.  Wayne has also been proactive in demonstrating participative leadership, to 
permeating a quality culture throughout the organisations and state wide VET environment.

Governing Council Member - Term expires 31 December 2007
Sandra Maynard

Sandra has a Bachelor of Horticultural Science and a Bachelor of Arts and is currently 
involved in writing training programs for nursery students.  She is employed part- 
time as a Development Officer for the Revegetation Industry Association of WA and 
has a strong commitment to increasing the professionalism and training prospects 
for those involved in horticulture and related industries.
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Governing Council Member - Term expires 31 December 2008
Lisa Baker

Lisa is Executive Director of the Western Australian Council of Social Service.  
She has worked as an executive in a range of areas across the community sector, 
Government and industry, both in Australia and internationally.

Lisa’s work has included the development of policies and the opportunity to lead 
projects for the United Nations Industrial Development and International Labour 
Organisation.

Her work has also allowed her to hold postings in Nepal, Indonesia, China and India, where she has 
achieved excellent outcomes for social policy, customer service and fund management within both the 
public and private sectors.

Governing Council Member - Term expires 31 December 2008
Adelle Cochran

Adelle currently holds the position of Director of Community Engagement with 
the City of Gosnells, one of the largest local government authorities in Western 
Australia.

Adelle has academic qualifications, extensive experience and a pragmatic approach 
in relation to the field of working with communities.  She brings to the council 
a strong academic foundation and comprehensive knowledge and appreciation 

of cross organisation legislation, standards and guidelines under which services are provided for 
communities.  Adelle has experience in negotiating and liaising with all levels of government, the private 
sector, customers and community groups.

Governing Council Member - Term expires 31 December 2007
Jennifer (Jenny) Heathcote

Jenny has been employed at Swan TAFE since its inception, having previously 
held the position of manager of library and learning services with another TAFEWA 
college. Her role has since been extended to include records and information 
management for Swan TAFE. Jenny is currently a member of the Learning Resource 
Systems Group Management Committee and represents TAFEWA at the TAFE 
Libraries Australia National Coordination Group.

As a long standing member of the Community and Public Sector Union and Civil Service Association, 
Jenny serves as the industrial representative on the Swan TAFE Governing Council.

Governing Council Member - Term expires 31 December 2007
Lynn-Joy Scrutton

Lyn-Joy represents the Indigenous community on the Swan TAFE Governing 
Council.  She has a Bachelor of Social Science (Indigenous Services) and is currently 
chairperson of the Aboriginal Education, Employment and Training Committee for 
Swan TAFE and the state representative member for Metropolitan Swan.

Lyn-Joy is currently employed as a personal advisor at Centrelink. She has strong 
linkages with indigenous programs and extensive experience in delivering programs 
to this group. 

Governing Council Member - Term expires 31 December 2008
Douglas Hall

Douglas is currently the Industry Development Officer for the Irrigation Association 
of Australia in WA. He has run a research and development consultancy, lectured 
in horticulture at the University of Western Australia, and been actively involved in 
the Primary Industry Training Council.  He brings diverse experience in research, 
teaching, industry development, and governance of community organisations. 
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Governing Council Member - Term expires 31 December 2007
Tracey Mcgrath

Tracey brings a wealth of organisational development experience to Swan TAFE’s 
Governing Council.

With over a decade of consulting experience throughout Australia, Tracey 
has successfully assisted a range of clients to improve productivity and staff 
engagement.  

Experienced in addressing the hard issues of getting people to ‘work together to 
achieve common objectives’, Tracey’s approach is to work with management to design and implement 
solutions that suit the individual organisation, their culture, and timeframes.

Tracey holds qualifications in psychology, radio announcing and project management, and is a long 
standing member of the Australian Psychological Society, the National Speakers Association of Australia 
and the International Federation of Professional Speakers.

Tracey's approach to achieving success is based on the crucial issue of sustainability (balancing 
people with profits) by breaking seemingly insolvable performance problems into a series of sequential, 
measurable and manageable steps.

Governing Council Member - Term expires 31 December 2008
Peta Crane

Peta started as a student in youth and community work within the Midland 
College of TAFE in 1996. In 1999, she was awarded the College’s Student of the 
Year and from there went on to win the WA Vocational Student of the Year Award.  
Peta continued her studies at university through to post graduate level.

Peta worked as a youth worker for several years before a career change in 2001, 
where she became a lecturer in Community Services, primarily in youth work, at 
Swan TAFE’s Thornlie campus.  

Today, Peta continues her involvement with youth work through many industry networks. She is a 
lead trainer for Scouts Australia and believes the skills developed through Swan TAFE’s professional 
development courses have enhanced her skills in volunteer and lecturing positions. Peta is also involved 
in various community organisations which enhance the learning experience for her students.

Governing Council Member - Term expired 31 December 2006
Robert Dixon

Robert is currently employed as an academic in the training and development 
program in the Department of Education, Curtin University of Technology, having 
spent time as a secondary school teacher and administrator, a business proprietor 
and boilermaker in a previous life.

Following the award of a Masters Degree in Educational Administration in 2002, 
Robert was invited to undertake a PhD research program with the Science, 

Mathematics Education Centre at Curtin University.

Although Robert’s studies are in information and communications technology, he has a strong interest 
in the VET sector, is a current and active member of the Australian VET Research Association, and 
holds a Certificate IV in Workplace Training Category 2, and a Diploma of Training and Assessments 
Systems.

He conducts training needs analysis and evaluation programs for a variety of government and private 
institutions, and regularly writes and presents research publications at national and international 
conferences in a variety of fields.
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Swan TAFE – Celebrating Success
2006 was a very successful year for Swan TAFE. The College’s students, staff and programs received 
recognition in a number of forums. Below is a sample of the range of awards collected during the past 
year:

Award Winning College
Winner – WA Large Training Provider of the Year

Winner – Outstanding Provider, Winner – Outstanding Program (‘Supa Golf’), 
WA Adult Learner’s Week Awards WA Adult Learner’s Week Awards 
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Award Winning Students

Air Conditioning and Mechanical Contractors’ Association of Western Australia (AMCA) Awards
Daniel Blenkinsop – Winner, AMCA Apprentice of the Year 

Rhett Gale – Runner Up, AMCA Apprentice of Year

Do it with Denim National Fashion Awards
Leanne Lim – Winner

Master Builders Apprentice Awards

Lyndon Payne Master Builder’s Apprentice of the Year

Blake Hilton  Most Outstanding Direct Indentured Apprentice

Mark Mucci  Most Outstanding 3rd Year Skillhire Apprentice

Curtis Buck  Most Outstanding 1st Year WA Group Training Scheme Apprentice 

Leonard Langdon Most Outstanding 2nd Year WA Group Training Scheme Apprentice

Brenton Wilks Most Outstanding 3rd Year WA Group Training Scheme Apprentice

Bradley Dyson  Department of Housing & Works Award

Ben Bedford Midland Brick Award

Gyles O’Grady Hanssen Award

Michael Smith Ric New Rising Star Award

Ross Stent Award (Rotary Club)
Paul Dean Winner, Ross Stent Award

Vocational Excellence Award (Rotary Club)
Gbogbah Tarr Winner, Vocational Excellence Award

Western Australian Cleaning Industry Excellence Awards
Steve Sotiroski Winner, Neil Gordon Jackson Memorial Young Managers’ Award

Eileen Gardner Winner, Excellence in Training Certificate III Award

Kenneth Johnson Winner, Excellence in the Maintenance of Education Facilities Award

WA Fashion Awards

Sandra Banken Winner, Sleepwear/Lingerie Category; Winner, Eveningwear/Bridal Category;  
  Winner, STM Supreme Student Award

Julia Fowler Winner, STM Highly Commended Construction Award

Lauren Massy Winner, Fantasia Category

Rachel Hagen Runner Up, Fantasia Category

Kathryn Prior  Runner Up, Sleepwear/Lingerie Category

Rebecker Mackness Runner Up, Eveningwear/Bridal Category

Rebecca Fogliani Runner Up, Ready to Wear Category

 WA Master Painter’s 
Association (MPA) 
Apprentice of the Year 
Awards 
Karen Cowley – Winner, 
Apprentice of the Year

Western Australian 
Motor Apprentice of the 
Year Awards 
Gabrielle Abel – Winner, 
Apprentice of the Year
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John Alebakis - Gold Simon Goldsborough - Gold Russell Blythe - Silver

Leon Barradell - Silver Conan Cordin - Bronze Laura Chapman - Bronze

Felicity Haldane Michael Levissianos Rick Knight

Adele Newton Kieron Browne Peter Geutjes

Margaret Reid Andre Watson

WorldSkills Awards

Award Winning Staff

Premier’s Teacher of the Year Award – First & Second Round Winners
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Campus Locations

Armadale Carlisle Balga 
40 Commerce Avenue Cnr Oats and Bank Street Loxwood Road
 

Bentley Midland Thornlie
Hayman Road Lloyd Street Burslem Drive

Swan River

Canning River

Perth

10 km

Fremantle

Carlisle Campus

Balga Campus

Thornlie Campus

Bentley Campus

Armadale Campus

N

Campus Locations

Equine Centre, Armadale

Midland
Midland
Campus
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Organisational Structure

The Swan Way of Working
In 2005 Swan TAFE underwent a major re-engineering process, paving the way for a new culture of 
teamwork and innovation. 

The key element of the re-engineering was the creation of the following three major professional teams 
which aim to provide a dynamic environment through a framework of good communication and shared 
decision making.

Education and Training Delivery
Education and Training Delivery provides quality teaching and learning to support the future of the 
community, including individuals, industry and the wider community.

Organisational Services
Organisational Services comprises customer service processes that aim to support internal and external 
clients in the teaching and learning environment.

Resources and Corporate Services
Resources and Corporate Services provides systems and processes that support Swan TAFE’s overall 
business environment.
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Statement of Compliance
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Compliance Report and Report on Accountability Issues

Minister
The Honourable Mark McGowan MLA, Minister for Education and Training, is the Minister responsible 
for training. Under the term of section 42 of the Vocational Education and Training Act, the Governing 
Council is the governing body of the College reporting to the Minister.

Functions of the Governing Council
The Governing Council has legislative authority to perform the following functions:

• Prepare a college training profile for approval by the Minister and, when required by the Minister.

• Develop and implement strategic and management plans for the College.

• Ensure that courses, programs and services are responsive to, and meet the needs of, students, 
industry and the community.

• Ensure that the College meets its commitments under its Delivery and Performance Agreement 
(DPA) and any other contractual arrangements.

Ministerials
During 2006 the College provided 21 Ministerial responses and one briefing note request.

Declaration of Interests
In accordance with the requirements of the Department of Treasury and Finance, on disclosure of 
senior officers:

• senior officers did not have any shareholding in the College; and

• to the best of the College’s knowledge, senior officers did not have any interest in contracts made 
or proposed with the College.

Pricing Policies
Fees and charges levied by the College were in accordance with the requirements of the following:

• Vocational Education and Training Act, 1996.

• Vocational Education and Training Regulations, 1996.

• Policy Guidelines for Publicly Funded Registered Training Organisations (RTO).

• Programs for Fees and Charges.

Swan TAFE has complied with the requirements of the Financial Administration and Audit Act, 1985 
and every other relevant written law, and exercised controls which provide reasonable assurance that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of monies, the acquisition and disposal of public property and 
incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions.

Risk Management
The Sustainable Energy Development Office oversees the energy-saving initiative ‘Energy Smart’.  Under 
this initiative, all State Government agencies were asked to reduce their overall energy consumption 
by 10% against a 2001/02 benchmark. During the 2005/06 period Swan TAFE successfully reduced its 
energy consumption by 20%; effectively doubling the target savings.

To celebrate the success of the Energy Smart program, a Celebration of Achievements and Future 
Options was held on Friday, 1 December 2006, at the Perth Concert Hall.  At this event, Swan TAFE was 
named ‘Energy Champion’, along with the Public Transport Authority and the Office of Public Sector 
Standards. 

Swan TAFE implemented a range of initiatives which all contributed to this achievement, from the 
installation of a new building management system at Carlisle, to small, local initiatives such as turning 
off computer monitors and lights when not required and, the progressive substitution of energy-saving 
globes in light fittings.  These initiatives have been championed by the Client and Facilities Managers on 
all campuses, coordinated by Swan TAFE's Environmental Officer, Odile Pouliquen-Young and adopted 
by a vast majority of Swan TAFE staff.
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Environment Sustainability
Swan TAFE has continued to pursue its environmental sustainability goals via a range of initiatives.

While the College’s stand-out achievement has been the overall reduction of energy usage across 
all campuses by 20% since 2001/02, Swan TAFE is continuing to pursue energy-reducing strategies 
including:

• The scoping of a new building management system for Blocks A, B, C and D on the 
Midland campus;

• The ongoing replacement of inefficient light globes across all campuses; and 

• The remote shut-down of PCs overnight. 

Examples of initiatives implemented by the College at a local, campus level include the planning of 
works to improve the Midland campus lake, which is itself an integral part of the local water catchment 
and drainage system.  The lake is under the joint management of Swan TAFE, the City of Swan, the 
Water Authority of WA and the Swan River Trust.  Swan TAFE plays a coordinating role in bringing all 
concerned parties together to improve the management of this small but essential piece in the water 
catchment jigsaw.

In terms of future planning, Swan TAFE has identified environmental sustainability as one of the ten 
key principles in its Master Plan framework.  The College has worked with architects Donaldson and 
Warn to prepare a Master Plan setting out Swan TAFE’s short and long-term physical objectives for 
the future.  Environmental sustainability is highlighted as a key goal in the planning of all new facilities 
and the planing of external areas.  Initiatives will include the correct orientation of future buildings, the 
choice of appropriate materials, the introduction of efficient energy-management systems and the 
design of appropriate hard landscaping to facilitate water-harvesting (rainwater run-off).

Recycling
Swan TAFE has continued to actively recycle a range of materials on all campuses, in collaboration 
with the relevant local authorities and service providers.  Over and above the now commonly adopted 
paper-recycling projects, several smaller recycling initiatives have commenced on various campuses, 
such as the battery recycling program that runs at the College’s Midland campus. 

Workers’ Compensation
During 2006, the College managed a total of 55 workers’ compensation claims including 28 new claims. 
The resultant lost working time associated with these claims was 524 working days.

In managing these claims, the College used a number or rehabilitation and return to work strategies to 
ensure that the injured staff members were provided with every opportunity to return to their pre-injury 
role.

During 2006 the College worked closely with Riskcover to minimise claims. The College also worked 
with a number of rehabilitation providers to ensure a collaborative return to work program was provided 
for those employees requiring assistance to fulfil a full or part-time return to work.

Quality Assurance
• An external audit of Swan TAFE was conducted in 2006 by the Training and Accreditation Council 

to ensure compliance against the Australian Quality Training Framework (AQTF) standards.  Swan 
TAFE was found to be compliant against all standards that were audited.  

• 41 Academic Internal Audits were completed throughout the College in 2006.

• The Quality Assurance unit has begun work on updating the Quality Management System.

• A project to streamline and update Swan TAFE policies, procedures, forms and work instructions is 
in process and will be completed during 2007. 
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Freedom of Information Act
There were two formal Freedom of Information applications received by the College between 1 January 
and 31 December 2006.

Freedom of Information applications may be required when obtaining personal records, when amending 
personal information and when obtaining records about the College’s business.

A College information statement, available on the Swan TAFE Intranet site, details College functions, 
categories of documents held by the College and arrangements for public access to these documents, 
including any associated fees that may arise.

Members of the public wishing to access documents under the Freedom of Information Act, 1992 
should contact:

Freedom of Information Coordinator 
Swan TAFE 
PO Box 1336 
Midland WA 6936

Phone: 08 9374 6131  
Fax: 08 9374 6100

Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management
Two applications for breach of standards were lodged and reviewed. The corresponding outcomes for 
the reporting period (2006) are:

• Number of breached found: Nil 

College Code of Conduct
During 2006, Swan TAFE’s Code of Conduct Committee reviewed the currency and effectiveness of 
the code in the context of the changing operating environment of the College. The Committee, which 
represents a cross-section of the College community, recommended amendments to the College 
Corporate Executive which were subsequently endorsed.

Employment Relations and Resources - Staff Resources (Treasurer’s Instruction 903 [(4)(vii)])
Under Ministerial direction, the DET Employee Relations unit coordinates industrial and workplace 
relations strategy and policy for the TAFEWA colleges’ network. Within this framework the College 
assisted in the implementation of the following industrial relations initiatives:

• Implementation of a new Government Officers General Agreement for the College’s Government 
Officers Salaries, Allowances and Conditions (GOSAC) staff.

• Implementation of a new agency specific agreement for GOSAC staff.

• Representation at the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission on arbitrary matters 
relating to award/agreement conditions.

• Representation on the DET shared services steering committees.

Equal Employment Opportunity Management (Equal Opportunity Act, 1984 Section 146)
As part of the human resource minimum obligatory information requirements for the Ministry of Premier 
and Cabinet, the College compiles information for the equal employment opportunity public sector 
yearly report. The data collected is primarily related to:

• People of Culturally Diverse Backgrounds.

• Indigenous Australians.

• People with disabilities.

• Management profile.

• Age within the workforce.

• Employee gender.
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Advertising
In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act, 1907 the following information is provided.

Total expenditure for 2006 was:  $365,861.00

Expenditure was incurred in the following areas:

Campaign advertising – design and artwork  $ 17,091.00

Campaign advertising – radio  $ 13,310.00

Campaign advertising – exhibition floor space  $ 12,187.00

General advertising  $ 16,602.00

Advertising – The West Australian  $129,051.00

Advertising – local newspapers  $102,635.00

Advertising – staff vacancies  $ 74,985.00

Note: Expenditure for 2006 includes funds spent on the ‘Tricks of the Trade’ lecturer recruitment advertising campaign.

Records Management
Compliance with Records Management Act, 2000

Swan TAFE’s Records Management Unit worked alongside record managers in both the TAFEWA and 
DET sector throughout 2006, to implement a Retention and Disposal Schedule which was authorised 
by the State Records Office.  This schedule has now been fully adopted by the College and is used in 
conjunction with other schedules pertinent to the College’s records.

DET conducted a baseline records keeping audit during 2006, including all TAFEWA colleges, district 
education offices, agencies (DET central office, Curriculum Council, Department of Eduction Services 
and Country High School Hostel Authority) and a selection of schools.  Results of the audit have shown 
areas of improvement for the College to address before the next scheduled audit, in mid 2007. 

Both the Quality Assurance and Records Management units will be developing further processes for 
records keeping throughout 2007 with the intention of having these processes included in routine 
internal audits, as an ongoing commitment to delivering quality services to customers.

The Total Records and Information Management (TRIM) Context rollout is programmed to be carried 
out in two stages during 2007.  The initial roll out will involve the development of the database, security 
and user accounts and will include identifying the specific requirements of all areas of the College, 
including academic. The second stage will involve introducing an electronic document records 
management system to the College and it is envisioned that this project will be completed by the end 
of 2007.  Sourcing suitably experienced contract project staff to assist in the successful roll-out will be 
paramount.

A project encompassing the destruction of records held at an off-site storage facility (Iron Mountain 
(formerly Pickfords) in Welshpool) will commence early in 2007.  The project will require the reassessment 
of records held in storage in accordance with the TAFEWA retention and disposal schedule, general 
disposal authorities and other relevant policies.  It is anticipated that this process will greatly reduce the 
amount and consequent storage costs of the College’s records currently in storage holdings.

Records Management Training
Records keeping awareness training sessions were conducted throughout the year at Swan TAFE’s 
professional and career development (PACD) training facility at Jandakot. Awareness training for senior 
management personnel was also conducted during professional development programs.

TRIM Captura user training recommenced during the later part of 2006, with sessions conducted at 
Swan TAFE’s training facility at Jandakot and also in the workplace.

Records keeping awareness training sessions are being formally adopted into the induction program 
for all new academic staff, commencing January 2007.   
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Publications
• Review of Management of College Records Policy, Confidentiality of Personal Information Policy 

and Freedom of Information Policy;

• Swan TAFE Records Keeping Responsibilities;

• Defining a Record; and

• Framework of Records Management at Swan TAFE.

Swan TAFE Compliance with Written Laws
In the performance of its function, Swan TAFE exercised controls that provided reasonable assurance 
that it complied with the following relevant written laws:

• Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission Act, 1989;
• Anti-Corruption Commission Act, 1988;
• Copyright Act, 1968;
• Criminal Code Act, 1913;
• Disability Discrimination Act, 1992;
• Disability Services Act, 1993;
• Equal Opportunity Act, 1984; and Amendment Acts, 1992 and 1998;
• Education Act, 1928;
• Evidence Act, 1906;
• Financial Administration and Audit Act, 1985;
• Freedom of Information Act, 1992;
• Government Employees Superannuation Act, 1987;
• Industrial and Commercial Training Act, 1975-80;
• Industrial Training Act, 1975;
• Industrial Relations Act, 1979;
• Limitations Act, 1935-1978;
• Library Board of Western Australia Act, 1951;
• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act, 1993;
• Occupational Safety and Health and Welfare Act, 1984;
• Public and Bank Holidays Act, 1972;
• Public Interest Disclosure Act, 2003;
• Public Sector Management Act, 1994;
• Public Sector Code of Ethics;
• Public Sector Code of Conduct;
• Salaries and Allowances Act, 1975;
• State Records Act, 2000;
• State Supply Commission Act, 1991;
• Trade Practices Act, 1974;
• Vocational Education and Training Act, 1996 (Colleges Amalgamation Order 2002);
• Workers Compensation and Rehabilitation Act, 1981; and 
• Workplace Agreement Act, 1993.

The following State and Federal Statutes also affected the agency’s activities during 2006:
• Australian National Training Authority Act, 1992;
• Building and Construction Industry Training Fund and Levy Collection Act, 1990;
• Building and Construction Industry Training Levy Act, 1990;
• Education Services for Overseas Students (Registration of Providers and Financial Regulation) 

Act, 1991; and
• Employment, Education and Training Act, 1988.
• Immigration (Education) Act, 1971 and Immigration (Education) Charge Act, 1992
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Education and Training Delivery
General Manager: Coralie Morrissey

Education and Training Delivery offers quality teaching and learning to support the 
future of the community (individuals, industry and the wider community).

Access and Community Services
Director: Lyn Southam

Swan TAFE’s Access and Community Services division provides training and 
assessment services across all campuses for the community services, children’s 
services, education, health and fitness industry sectors. It also delivers education 
and employment readiness programs for people, including early school leavers, who 
are seeking entry or re-entry into the workforce or into VET.

 

Achievements in 2006

Student Awards
• Danelle Miller, Course in New Opportunities for Women student, was awarded Swan TAFE’s Access 

& Diversity Award.

• Joanne Rayner, student in Swan TAFE’s Certificate III in Teacher Assistant (Indigenous) course, was 
a finalist in the WA Training Awards in the category of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Student 
of the Year.

Lecturer Awards
• Felicity Haldane, Michael Levissianos, Adele Newton, Margaret Reid and Andre Watson were round 

winners in the Western Australian Premier’s Teacher of the Year Award.

• Kate Hughes and Sue Hart were nominated in the student-elected SwanSA Lecturer of the Year 
Award.

• Lois Alexander, Jacqui Holub and Craig Noonan were winners of the Swan TAFE Corporate and 
Lecturing Staff Innovation Award.

• Matthew Highman was awarded Swan TAFE’s Corporate and Lecturing Staff Leadership Award.

• Felicity Haldane received the Swan TAFE Lecturing Staff Excellence Award.

Delivery Unit Achievements
• The division’s delivery units delivered a range of commercially funded programs and projects, 

including the Language, Literacy and Numeracy Program for Centrelink clients and Existing Worker 
Traineeships were offered in two groups: Aboriginal and Islander Education Officers employed in 
schools and Carers employed in childcare centres.

• Balga campus hosted a Harmony Day celebration comprised of food, textiles, music, dance and 
culture for over three hundred guests as a way to assist in breaking down barriers and encouraging 
respect for diversity.

• Thornlie campus hosted an International Women’s Day event celebrating the achievements of former 
female students who attended as guests.



19

Annual Report 2006

New Partnerships

Industry
• A new partnership was formed with AFL Sports Ready to deliver workplace-based training and 

assessment, for young aboriginal people undertaking traineeships in sport and recreation, in order 
to prepare them for positions in the recreation industry.

• Swan district community services industry agencies collaborated in implementing Swan TAFE’s 
Campus Referral and Information Service for Students (CRISS) on the Midland campus, to provide 
referral services to all students and work practice for community services students.

• Balga campus hosted a community services expo to provide a networking opportunity for students 
and local industry agencies.

Community
• English language programs have been introduced for migrant community-based groups in Beechboro 

and Ballajura, and in collaboration with the Chung Wah Association, in Balcatta.

• Outreach programs for young people ‘at risk’, delivered in collaboration with the community-based 
agencies Swan City Youth Service and Caversham Training and Enterprise Centre, have been 
expanded.

• A Course in New Opportunities for Women was delivered in partnership with the Wheatbelt General 
Practice to women in the Woorooloo area.

• A life-skills program was delivered in collaboration with the Department of Corrective Services to 
prepare people for employment.

• Children’s Services students have conducted activities for community projects, including the 
Children’s Celebration Picnic for Children’s Week at Whiteman Park, a ‘Family Fun’ morning at 
Woodbridge Pre-Primary School and an expo promoting the childcare industry at Livingston 
Marketplace Shopping Centre.

• Fitness and massage students continued to provide a student practice service during community 
events such as the City of Swan Seniors Week, City of Swan’s Women on Wellness Week and 
various careers expos.

Meeting Government Priorities
• Thornlie campus partnered with the Ricky Grace Clontarf Girls Foundation to provide a sport and 

recreation program for girls from schools within the area.

• Initiatives to facilitate articulation from VET to university have included the introduction of the 
Certificate IV in English for Academic Purposes, on the Balga and Carlisle campuses, to enable 
migrants to meet the English language competencey requirements for university entry.

• The delivery of English language programs has increased substantially, including to skilled migrants 
who are in Australia on working visas and who require English language training to meet the demands 
of their jobs.



20

Annual Report 2006

Building and Construction
Director: Alan Davis

The Building and Construction division operates across three campuses at 
Balga, Midland and Thornlie.  The main areas of delivery are apprenticeship, pre-
apprenticeship and school programs such as the School Apprenticeship Link (SAL).  
In addition, the division delivers training in areas of specialisation such as the 
Builder’s Registration, Electrical and Plumbing Licensing and Security Systems.  

 
Achievements in 2006

Student Awards
National WorldSkills winners:

• John Alebakis – Gold medal, Wall and Floor Tiling

• Russell Blythe – Silver medal, Cabinet Making

• Conan Cordin – Bronze medal, Painting and Decorating

• Karen Cowley – Winner, WA Master Painter’s Association Apprentice of the Year

Delivery Unit Achievements
The division commenced 2006 with a contracted delivery (profile) of 989,449 Student Contact Hours 
(SCH).  This figure has been exceeded by more than 200,000 hours; a total of 1,227,630 SCH were 
delivered as at 31 December 2006. The division expects delivery to be achieved within budget.

New Partnerships

Industry
• Part of the development and currently participating in the ‘Dream Factory’ project, being run in conjunction 

with the Housing Industry Association and private school groups.  The intention of this project is to identify 
and encourage students to consider entering the building and construction industry while at school and to 
assist them in making early career decisions.

• Participated in the development and operation of the ‘Brighton Shed’.  This project is located in the far 
northern suburb of Brighton and is a collaborative arrangement between Swan TAFE, West Coast TAFE, 
Satterley Real Estate and various industry and community partners.  The aim of the project is to provide pre-
apprenticeship and trade training in a purpose built facility to better meet the needs of students in outlying 
areas of Perth.

• Established a Memorandum of Understanding with Electrical Group Training for training apprentices and 
trainees in the electrical and communications industry.

• Developed an industry partnership with Bluescope Steel and Group Training to promote pre-apprenticeships 
and apprenticeships in roof plumbing and steel roofing which are identified as skills shortage areas. 

• Developed an industry partnership with Skillhire Group Training to train their first group of electrical 
apprentices that are employed by the Department of Housing and Works.

Meeting Government Priorities
• Participation in the development of apprenticeship reform via the Skills Formation Taskforce to meet 

industry demands for a more flexible and responsive apprenticeship scheme.  The changes have required 
the introduction of new qualifications within Swan TAFE to meet industry demand in the housing industry.

• Growth in contracted delivery (profile) of approximately 20% during 2006.  This growth is directly attributable 
to addressing the skills shortage within the building and construction industry throughout Western Australia 
and demonstrates the ability of the College to be responsive to industry demand. 

• The division was also successful in gaining DET funding for the major refurbishment and upgrade of facilities 
at Balga campus to enable the College to meet industry demand in skills shortage areas for 2007.

• Established a new training facility for apprentice and trainee glazing students within the Balga campus with 
new machinery, equipment and workshops.

• Established a specialised facility for training apprentice stonemasons utilising new, machinery, equipment 
and workshops.  This facility will cater for the introduction of new training programs as recommended by 
the Skills Formation Taskforce.
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Business, Finance and Computing
Director: Kath Finn

The main focus of the Business, Finance and Computing division is on institutional 
training from Certificate I through to Advanced Diploma level.  Areas of delivery 
include all aspects of business, financial services, horticulture, environmental 
science and conservation and land management and laboratory operations.  The 
division provides training to a large number of international students (139 in 2006), 
most of whom study business or IT on the Bentley campus.  Fee-for-service activity 
has increased in 2006. 

Achievements in 2006

Student Achievements
• Students from Swan TAFE’s Polar Image Practice Firm had the chance to showcase and sell their 

virtual products to over 250 attendees at the bi-annual National Practice Trade Fair, held in Brisbane 
in May.  The students, studying a certificate II or III in Business, manufacture and sell a range of 
virtual ice-cream products based on those currently offered by their business partner, Fonterra 
Brands Australia.  

• Swan TAFE students Deborah Godfrey and Veronica Gilmour were presented awards for ‘Best 
Personality’ and ‘Excellent Customer Service’ at the National Practice Trade Fair.

Delivery Unit Achievements
• Development of the Associate Degree of Business, designed to articulate into the third year of a 

bachelor degree at Murdoch University. The associate degree will require students to complete just 
one further year of study to obtain a degree in one of nine streams from Murdoch University. The 
associate degree will be registered during 2007.

• Registration of the Edexcel Higher National Diploma of Business, for delivery at Swan TAFE’s Bentley 
campus. This diploma will provide entry to the second year of the associate degree program and full 
skills recognition for students moving into the Advanced Diploma of Business.

• Hosted the Gosnells Business and Tourism Association (Thornlie campus) and Network 2000 
Conferences (Midland campus).

• Successfully applied for a Reframing the Future grant to increase industry involvement and hosted 
five industry breakfasts attended by industry, staff and students as part of the project.

• Increased the number of industry visits undertaken by staff and documented industry input.

Community Projects
Multimedia students conducted a ‘live’ work project for two local non-profit organisations, the Gosnells 
Little Athletics Club and the Langford Aboriginal Association.  Under the supervision of lecturer Huia 
Hickey, the students met with their clients, determined the client’s needs and worked to develop a 
suitable website. Classes worked on two options to offer each client and the client themselves made 
the final selection.  This mode of training delivery reduced absenteeism and provided a great deal of 
motivation for students who gained skills, particularly in dealing with clients in a professional manner.

New Partnerships
Memorandum of Understanding signed with David Wells & Associates.  David Wells and Associates 
provide an opportunity for students to be trained in the Certificate IV in Small Business Management 
while providing mentoring for the students as they work to establish a business.  Swan TAFE will in turn 
offer David Wells and Associates the opportunity of promoting their program to graduates who may be 
starting up a business. 

Meeting Government Priorities
The Business, Finance and Computing division is actively seeking to bring about seamless pathways for 
students moving from school to TAFE to university.  The division provides auspicing expertise for school 
students studying business and IT units from national qualifications; delivers VET for Schools training 
to students on-campus in horticulture and IT and meets with schools to inform school counsellors of 
the training available at Swan TAFE.
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Hospitality, Manufacturing and Allied Services
Director: Denise White

Hospitality, Manufacturing and Allied Services is a very large and diverse division, 
delivering training services to students on four Swan TAFE campuses, as well as in 
the workplace.

The division services the training needs of the hospitality, cooking, baking, meat 
retailing, food processing, clothing production, retail, animal care, veterinary nursing, 
equine, dry cleaning, tourism, hairdressing, art, soft furnishing and floor covering 
industries.

Achievements in 2006

Student Achievements
Students from the West Australian Institute of Fashion and Textiles (WAIFT) were very successful this 
year, taking out the following awards:

• National honours for Leanne Lim and state honours for Natalie Schorer in the Genes for Jeans (Do 
It With Denim) Competition.

• Australian Masters of Fashion Awards, Student Category, Winner - Mikele Simone.

Numerous honours in the WA Fashion Awards (Tekskin WA Fashion Design Awards Student Division) 
including:

• Fantasia Category - Winner: Lauren Massy; Runner up: Rachel Hagen;

• Ready to Wear Category - Runner-up: Rebecca Fogliani;

• Sleepwear/Lingerie Category - Winner: Sandra Banken; Runner up: Katheryn Prior; 

• Evening Wear/Bridal Category - Winner: Sandra Banken; Runner up: Rebecca Mackness; 

• STM Supreme Student Award - Winner: Sandra Banken;

• STM Highly Commended Construction Award – Winner: Julia Fowler.

National WorldSkills winners:

• Simon Goldsborough - Gold medal, Combined Apprentice/Retail Baking – Bread

• Leon Baradell – Silver medal, Meat Retailing

• Laura Chapman – Bronze medal, Restaurant Services

 

WAIFT held its annual fashion show showcasing graduates’ work to industry. WAIFT also held its 
annual certificate IV static display in the fashion area, showcasing student garments developed through 
project based learning and attended by industry and family. 

Student participation in events off-campus included Trek The Trail, Art on the Walk Path, Sculpture 
Survey and Construction. Publications that the students have been represented in include the Hills 
Gazette and the Midland Kalamunda Reporter.

Students from the Equine Training Centre held their annual Weanling Parade. They also developed 
a working relationship with the Byford Trotting Association working alongside Racing and Wagering 
Western Australia.

Lecturer Achievements
• Finalists for the staff Quality Day Awards included the administration staff, baking and Bentley 

cafeteria staff as well as the following individuals: Roy Southworth, Lindsay Baker, Michael Burgess, 
Kirsten Underwood and Gina Marrollo.
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Delivery Unit Achievements
New programs adopted within the division include: 

• School based apprenticeships with Hospitality Group Training.

• Short courses delivered in printed textiles.

• Six schools participated in the Certificate I in Retail Operations for VET for Schools students with 
learning disabilities. 

• A project was undertaken to write units for both the art and design training package and the 
Certificate III in Farriery. 

• A number of art exhibitions were successfully held at the College’s Midland campus showcasing 
student work. Students also exhibited in a range of shows off-campus including the City of Melville 
Art Award, The Mine Own Executioner, The Darlington Art Award and The Christmas Exhibition. 

• With an ongoing commitment to industry partnerships, WAIFT provides an opportunity for diploma 
students to undertake work experience/mentoring nationally. This year students completed 
placements at the following fashion institutes:

 • Collette Dinnigan – Sydney.

 • Cheetah Australia  – Sydney.

 • Kirrily Johnston – Sydney.

 • Marie Claire Fashion Magazine – Sydney.

 • Scanlan & Theodore – Melbourne; and 

 • Linda Gorringe – Melbourne.

• In dry cleaning, a course was run on-campus for students with special needs and the unit also 
developed a close relationship with industry to implement work experience for these students.

New Partnerships
• The division’s relationship with the Compass Group has continued to develop; Swan TAFE now carries 

out an induction for all Compass employees and delivers training to all Qantas club trainees.

• The division has secured the house keeping training tender for both the Intercontinental Resort 
Burswood and Holiday Inn Burswood.

• The division has formed a partnership with Sara Lee as part of the College’s new coffee academy.

• The division’s partnership with Mediterranean Woodfired Ovens will allow it to run courses using the 
ovens.

• National Foods are working with the division to train their staff in coffee making.

• The division has expanded its off-campus training in baking and now delivers the course to local 
prisons. 
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Metals, Engineering, Technology and Mining
Director: Mike Scally

The Metals, Engineering, Technology & Mining division operates across three 
campuses at Carlisle, Midland and Thornlie.  The main areas of delivery are 
apprenticeship and pre-apprenticeship courses and the division covers training in:

•   Engineering;

•   Refrigeration and Air Conditioning;

•   Electrotechnology;

•   Occupational Health and Safety;

•   Telecommunications; and

•   Mining.

Achievements in 2006
The division had extensive growth in 2006 due to the demand for pre-apprentice, apprentice and 
institution-based training programs addressing the current skills shortage.  The division had a target of 
1,020,795 SCH for the year and has surpassed this with a total of 1,034,028 SCH.

Student Achievements
Vehicle body building apprentice Jay Bunton was awarded a high commendation in the Geof Gale 
Medal category at Swan TAFE’s Graduation Ceremony.

Delivery Unit Achievements
• Development of Industry Advisory Committees embedded into study area networks. Ten committees 

were established in the division during 2006 however, feedback provided by industry shows that 
some duplication is occurring in some areas and as such, these will be reduced to just six in 2007.

• New qualifications have been developed in mining, front line management, work safety, metals 
engineering trades, engineering (technical), mechanical/automation, civil and structural, 
electrotechnology and electronic servicing (plasma TVs, sound systems).

• Lecturers in fitting and machining have been trialling PDA systems for student assessments.

• The division was restructured during 2006 and now provides a framework of delivery areas across 
several delivery sites rather than just campus based. This ensures that clients and customers 
receive seamless training and lecturers have a sense of belonging to their set study area rather than 
a campus.

• Succession planning, with the introduction of Heads of Programs (HOP’s) has been implemented. 
HOP’s act in place of the College’s divisional managers when they are off-campus, thus providing 
the College with an additional pool of middle management staff that can fill in as a manager at short 
notice when required.

• Developed career paths and alignment to training package qualifications for all employees in 
combined metal industries, from managers to production staff. 
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New Partnerships
• Fast track apprentices at AMCOR (Canning) have completed the Swan TAFE component of their 

apprenticeship in half the time it would normally take.  Each apprentice is case managed by a 
lecturer and establishes a mentor in the workplace.

• Developed an arrangement with Motive Energy and the Office of Energy to provide training, develop 
resources and curriculum, and provide a training centre to train technicians from across Australia in 
designing, installing and maintaining Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) re-fuelling stations.

• Swan TAFE is the sole provider of training for the Readymix Group of Companies, with developed 
career paths and alignment to training package qualifications in the context of Mining.

• Swan TAFE staff conducted a training needs analysis for Bossong Engineering, including a review 
of their manufacturing workforce. The College then developed career paths and competencies and 
aligned this to the training package qualification related to robotic welding.

• Developed safety representative training for the Australian maritime industry.

• Developed alliances with other TAFEWA colleges to provide, or assist with, training including 
Central West College of TAFE for apprentice training in metals and engineering (refrigeration and 
air-conditioning) and Pilbara TAFE for training at BHP Billiton, on-site, in Newman.  

• Developed alliances with students from Curtin University to undertake training in water pumping, 
plastic welding and fibreglass manufacture, together with project design related to farming.

Meeting Government Priorities
Staff have participated in numerous workshops as part of the State Government’s Skills Formation 
Taskforce, designed to better meet industry demands for a more flexible and responsive training 
environment.  

Through the East Metropolitan Regional Council and Skills Formation Taskforce, it was determined 
that there is a need for a ‘Master Class Tradesperson’ status. In light of this, a pilot program has been 
established with the aim of meeting the needs of the metals and engineering industry.  
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Transport
Director: Ian Boyd

The Transport division has had some key management staffing changes during 
2006 requiring staff to take on the responsibility of acting in the vacant positions.  
Following the College’s major recruitment initiative in the latter part of 2006, stability 
should be returned for the commencement of 2007.  

 
 

Achievements in 2006

Delivery Unit Achievements
• The Centre for Sustainable Transport was once again a fully committed program for the delivery 

of training in Liquefied Petroleum Gas, CNG and Liquefied Natural Gas.  Arrangements have been 
made for three extra staff to undertake training during 2007, to assist with the delivery of these 
courses and allow for expansion.

• All equipment has been installed in the new Degem training facility, launched in early 2007.  Professional 
development for lecturing staff was conducted in January 2007 and a Ministerial launch followed 
in February. Degem's innovative methodology combines cutting-edge American technologies with 
a computer-based approach.  This unique combination has a worldwide reputation in the field of 
educational training. 

• The 18th National Biennial TAFE Vehicle Body Teachers Conference was held in Perth in January 
2006, organised and hosted by staff from Swan TAFE.  The aim of the conference was to bring 
together TAFE automotive body trade teachers from all states across Australia, the National 
Automotive Industry Training Board and the broader automotive repair industry, to discuss common 
issues related to training for the future of the body repair industry.  

 Participating lecturers kept abreast of changes through contact with counterparts in other states 
and industry representatives.  Networking from the conferences has also produced national TAFE 
involvement and collaboration in WorldSkills competitions, the TAFE National Colour Matching 
Competition and Student Learning Resources. 

• The development of three new Associate Degrees in Aviation should be finalised in 2007.  These 
degrees will cover aeronautics, aircraft maintenance engineering and airport management.  
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New Partnerships
• The fourth annual eV Challenge, an automotive endurance competition for vehicles powered by an 

electronic motor, was hosted by Swan TAFE in 2006.  The vehicles are designed and built by students 
from a range of educational institutions including schools, TAFEWA colleges and universities.   
This year the Midland campus car park was transformed into a race track for teams to compete 
with one another to see who could travel the greatest distance in 60 minutes.  Accompanying the 
automotive challenge was a video competition for high-school students from across the metropolitan 
area. The e-Video Challenge allowed budding film makers to showcase their production skills as 
they documented the design, build and challenges that led them to the eV Challenge.

• The Clean Run program is a major initiative from the Department of Environment and the Federal 
Government.  As part of this initiative a Memorandum of Understanding was signed between Swan 
TAFE and the Department of Environment and Conservation, demonstrating the commitment of 
both agencies to establish an effective working relationship. This relationship aims to develop 
and implement training programs that incorporate the key messages and initiatives of the vehicle 
emissions testing pilot program for Western Australia and the National Environment Protection 
Diesel Vehicle Emission measure.

 Importantly for Swan TAFE, this memorandum provides financial support in the form of a $150,000 
grant to purchase state of the art emissions testing equipment.  The new equipment enables 
apprentices being trained at the College (in heavy road transport industries) to use this equipment 
in their training program to translate diagnostic information into service and repair actions designed 
to reduce diesel emissions.

 The involvement of Swan TAFE in the Clean Run initiative also complements the work being 
undertaken by the College’s Centre for Sustainable Transport, established in 2005.  The centre 
is playing a key leadership role in the provision of training to support alternative transport fuels 
including LPG, CNG, LNG bio fuels and the emerging hydrogen fuel cell technologies.

Meeting Government Priorities
Swan TAFE has been approved as the training provider to deliver the Certificate IV in Automotive 
Technology as a pilot for master class training.  Industry surveys will be conducted to validate their 
requirements and curriculum will be developed from this information.  This ground breaking development 
for the automotive indutry will place Swan TAFE at the leading edge of post trade - advance technicial 
training.
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Organisational Services
A/General Manager: Lyn Farrell

Organisational Services provides customer service processes which support internal 
and external clients in the teaching and learning environment.

Planning and Organisational Effectiveness
Director: Kevin Coombes

The Planning and Organisational Effectiveness division is responsible for developing 
and managing the College’s strategic and business planning activities, planning and 
managing the College contracted delivery (profile) and implementing and supporting 
College wide student information and delivery systems.  The division also manages 
the College’s client survey program and customer complaints management and 
reporting system and undertakes research into industry and community training 
needs. 

Achievements in 2006

• Prepared the College’s response to the 2007 DPA including managing the development of the 2007 
contracted delivery (profile) and coordinating the negotiation process and follow-up.

• Monitored, analysed and reported on performance against the 2006 contracted delivery (profile) including 
reporting on skill shortage targets and managing the reviews. 

• Planned and coordinated enhancements to the College’s Executive Information System (EIS) for reporting 
delivery performance on a DPA and commercial basis.

• Provided contracted delivery (profile) planning advice for the development of the web-based profile planning 
tool.

• Reviewed and revised the performance and review strategy and linked the process into the Managing 
Directors bi-monthly review meetings.

• Managed and coordinated the College’s internal student satisfaction survey and involvement in the 2006 
State Student Survey and National Student Outcomes Survey.  

• Managed and coordinated the College’s complaints management system.

• Developed and managed the Managing Directors Performance Agreement with the Minister for Education 
and Training.

• Contributed to the development of the College’s second phase Master Plan.

• Coordinated a revised business planning process for use by divisional directors. 

• Undertook two internal invalid enrolment audits and managed and coordinated the provision of information 
to support the national invalid enrolment audit.  

• Implemented and coordinated online enrolments to enable students to enrol via the Internet.

• Implemented and provided training support for new delivery systems including unified enrolments and the 
student portal.

Meeting Government Priorities
The centralised complaints tracking and reporting system managed by Planning and Organisational 
Effectiveness ensures that the College is compliant with the AQTF, the National Complaints Code and the 
Australian Standard for Complaints Handling.

Complaints and feedback are recorded, receipted, tracked and responded to within the guidelines. The results 
and responses are then analysed and reported against and, any actions/improvements are identified and 
implemented.

The number of complaints managed for 2006 was 343. The number of complaints resolved within 30 days was 
220. The College is now implementing a complaints management and business improvement tool which is an 
electronic system that is designed to improve the way feedback is managed within the College for 2007.
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Marketing and Career Information Services
Director: Terry Durant

Throughout 2006 the College’s Marketing and Career Information Services division 
continued to attract and retain students through marketing communications activities, 
information and career advice services.

As a result of effective promotion and customer service Swan TAFE’s brand is 
achieving greater reach across Swan TAFE’s catchment areas.

The College’s marketing directions paper was also completed, outlining directions 
and strategies for marketing practices across Swan TAFE in 2006 and beyond.

Achievements in 2006

Marketing
Advertising

• A range of advertising was conducted throughout 2006. The unit worked with many divisions to 
develop strategies for promoting new course offerings and availabilities in established courses. The 
unit was also active prior to key admissions times, developing a range of print advertising strategies 
to support delivery unit targets.

Events

• More than 1000 Swan TAFE staff, students and VIP guests enjoyed the College’s graduation 
ceremony and awards evening held at the Burswood International Resort Casino’s grand ballroom 
in April.  The evening saw students from 125 para-professional and apprenticeship delivery areas 
receive awards for excellence.

• In consultation with key staff, marketing coordinated the College’s Quality Day, the aim of which was 
to provide staff with networking and skill development opportunities, as well as to empower staff by 
involving them in decisions affecting the College. Over 900 staff attended Quality Day and the high 
satisfaction levels reported in post event evaluations show that the day was again an outstanding 
success.

• The College took part in the Career Choices Expo in 2006 – exhibiting with the second largest stand, 
only falling behind expo headliners, DET. Remedial massage students were on hand, offering head, 
neck and shoulder massages to visitors across the weekend and the College also had a strong 
presence in many of the try-a-trade areas including building and construction, fashion, hospitality 
and automotive.

• The unit also assisted the various divisions with participation in a wide range of other expos and 
events including the Yearling Parade, Abilities Expo, Go Girl Go for IT, JobsGalore, Harmony Week, 
Careers and Education Expo and the Perth Job Fair.

Media

• Media coverage in 2006 was again a highlight for the College. The Community Newspapers were 
particularly supportive of College events and student achievements, whilst the West Australian and 
Sunday Times also reinforced good news stories through their publications. 

 From April 2006 onwards any media published was scanned and emailed to the relevant division 
and unit for their files and, hard copies continue to be provided to Corporate Executive, for their 
files, on a weekly basis.  Media coverage in 2006 surpassed that of 2005.

 A number of stories were also published in the Government’s monthly InterSector magazine which 
has become a regular on the media agenda over the year.

Design

• The unit worked on a number projects through 2006 including the 2005 Annual Report, the 
SwanFlyer newsletter and developing a suite of seven brochures for targeted international marketing 
in Chongqing, China.



30

Annual Report 2006

Internal Communications

• The unit has once again been instrumental in developing the 2007 College calendar, distributed to 
all staff. In late 2006, development of the College’s internal newsletter Swanlink was also given to 
the Marketing unit. The unit redesigned the print version and issued its first edition in December.

Internet

• A new College website was developed and launched with help from the Marketing team in October 
2006. The new site is user-friendly and easy to navigate. Minor changes and additions to the new 
website are on going.

Publications

• The unit continued to create and issue the SwanFlyer newsletter during 2006, to a database of over 
1800 stakeholders. Along with the usual quarterly issue, a special edition was also distributed, in 
October, highlighting College and staff achievements.

• Progress was made in updating divisional templates throughout 2006, with a new look and feel 
being utilised for some publications issued. It is envisaged that this will be further developed during 
2007 when the unit undertakes a new brand identity project.

• A suite of new course brochures was developed this year, for use at the Career Choices Expo. These 
four-page, full colour, A4 publications were well received by staff and customers and they have been 
maintained by the College for use in a range of activities and promotions.

Career Information Services
• Career Development Advisors are available for prospective and current students. Their role is to 

assist prospective students in formulating study and career plans whilst also assisting enrolled 
students to handle any difficulties which may hinder their ability to complete their studies.

• Dedicated telephone information officers have been appointed within the College call centre to 
provide accurate and timely information to prospective students on all Swan TAFE courses.

• This year saw the College commence using the Customer Liaison and Management System. The 
system has been developed by the Training Delivery Systems unit of DET and is designed to enable 
telephone information officers to track client contact.

• A number of College promotions were successfully held at major shopping centres in the Perth 
metropolitan area during the year. These were particularly designed to reach prospective students 
who are no longer linked to the school system.

• School liaison activities increased during 2006, resulting in contact being made with over 15,000 
students at more than 110 schools (including ten non-metropolitan schools as part of an inaugural 
country tour).

• The student employment service was further promoted throughout 2006 and participation increased 
to 274 students.  A student employment seminar aimed at IT students was also held mid-year with 
25 students participating.

New Partnerships
In conjunction with the Smith family, the College has assisted the Royal Automobile Club during 2006 
to establish and promote scholarships for automotive students.

Meeting Government Priorities
Promotion of TAFEWA options saw enrolments of ex-year 10 and ex-year 11 students increase, in line 
with the DET policy on participation in education and training by young people.
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Strategic Partnerships
Director: Pauline Whitley

The Strategic Partnerships division is an essential part of Swan TAFE’s strategic 
commitment to relationships and partnerships with external stakeholders. This 
division is responsible for establishing, managing and coordinating College 
partnerships with industry, other education sectors, Indigenous communities and 
the local community.

 

Aboriginal Strategic Programs
The Aboriginal Strategic Programs unit liaises with communities and industry to identify indigenous 
employment and training opportunities. Swan TAFE also has an Indigenous Education, Employment 
and Training Advisory Committee.

Achievements in 2006
Swan TAFE currently partners with the Armadale Noongar Corporation (ANC), utilising an experiential 
learning paradigm to facilitate positive social and educational outcomes for aboriginal people in the 
Armadale region. 

Aboriginal employees of the ANC gain recognition for the real work they undertake in a commercial 
setting, through the achievement of nationally accredited qualifications in the building and construction 
and horticulture industries. Initial outcomes show a 100% completion rate for all participants and with 
pathways into higher qualifications now open, eleven aboriginal families are receiving full-time income 
support.

Disability Services
In 2006 Disability Services realigned with Swan TAFE’s Strategic Partnerships division to enhance 
training outcomes and build networks with key community agencies and organisations, for the 
advancement of people with disabilities in employment and training.

Disability services staff provide ongoing support to students to ensure access to, and participation in, 
training for students with disabilities. Information and professional development for Swan TAFE staff 
complied with the Disability Standards for Education (2005), part of the AQTF.

Disability types presented for service:

Category Number of Students

Physical 97

Sensory 45

Intellectual 96

Psychiatric 49

ABI  38

Learning/ADD/ADHD 62

Social Spectrum 14

Total   401

Achievements in 2006
• Over four hundred students registered with Disability Services in 2006 were provided with support including 

interpreters, note takers, assistive technologies, ergonomic equipment and information in alternative 
formats.

• Registration for part-time or full-time employment was continued for students through the student 
employment service.

• Peer support and volunteering continued successfully across all divisions.
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• Professional development and information packages were provided to staff delivering training to students 
with disabilities.

• ‘Supa Golf’ - a joint Disability Service and Swan Adult Learning training initiative for students with acquired 
brain injury and intellectual disabilities, won the DET Equity Award (2005).

• Participation in various careers expos resulted in increased inquires of courses and services at Swan 
TAFE.

New Partnerships
Community partnerships such as the Swan Friendship Club have created training and employment opportunities 
in the hospitality industry. 

Meeting Government Priorities
Disability Services has met the government priority of increasing the participation of students with disabilities 
in training and achieving success in employment while assisting staff to comply with the Disability Standards 
for Education (2005) within the AQTF.

Swan Adult Learning (Formerly TAFEworks)
Swan Adult Learning is a unit of Swan TAFE that is committed to the provision of life long learning opportunities 
for a diverse range of clients.  The centre has formed a learning community through strong alliances with a 
range of Swan TAFE internal stakeholders, including Aboriginal and Disability Services, as well as numerous 
community partners including local government, schools, care groups, industry, government departments and 
aboriginal corporations.

Swan Adult Learning offered in excess of 800 adult education short courses in 2006, with over 3600 students 
enrolled in a range of topics across 20 venues in the South East Metropolitan region.  

At the Adult Learners Week Awards for 2006, Swan Adult Learning was awarded top honours in the 
category of Outstanding Provider as well as Outstanding Program (‘Supa Golf’ for people with disabilities).   
The centre was also nationally recognised at the Adult Learning Australia Conference and Awards Night, named 
runner-up in the category of Centre of the Year.

Two applications for grants to ‘Increase Participation and Diversity in Adult Community Education’ were 
successful in 2006 and will be implemented during 2007. These grants will allow for an extension of the ‘Supa 
Golf’ program for people with disabilities and also a partnership with Sensus Foundation to provide a resource 
for adult education providers and facilitators for students with dual sensory loss disabilities. 

‘Supa Golf’ for people with disabilities
The ‘Supa Golf’ program provides an opportunity for people with intellectual disabilities to undertake ‘exercise 
in disguise’ by playing golf with the use of special golf clubs and large tennis-size balls.  Swan TAFE piloted this 
project, with great success during 2006, partnering with three care groups and the Palm Grove Golf Course. 

Moving Forward - Leaps and Bounds
Moving Forward is the third continuation of a highly successful project designed to provide life skills and 
awareness of life opportunities to clients of the Department of Corrective Services on community work 
orders. 

In conjunction with the Department of Corrective Services, Swan TAFE has also developed and implemented a 
strategy which aims to continue this project in a sustainable manner once external funding ceases.  

This program was also nationally recognised, named Program of the Year at the Adult Learning Australia 
Conference.

Apprenticeship and Traineeship Unit
The Apprenticeship and Traineeship unit provides administration and professional development support 
to Swan TAFE to ensure apprenticeships and traineeships are delivered in accordance with legislation and 
policy. 

Achievements in 2006
• In response to the increase in apprenticeship delivery the College has made a further investment in the 

Apprenticeship and Traineeship unit by employing four Industry Training Consultants to provide extra 
support to the management of apprenticeships within the College.
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Education Services
The VET in Schools unit coordinates delivery requests from government, non-government high schools and 
Education support centres. This includes secondary students accessing delivery and assessment arrangements 
for contracted delivery (profile), auspicing and taster courses.

In 2006, Swan TAFE developed a strong auspicing relationship with VET for Schools validators and teachers 
whilst also providing a series of workshops which allowed networking and one-on-one validation with staff, 
thus ensuring AQTF compliance.

Achievements in 2006
• The past year has seen a significant focus on establishing an agreed structure, networks and linkages 

between key stakeholders, the three Education District Offices and the high schools in Swan TAFE’s 
catchment area. This has resulted in the establishment of the Swan TAFE, Canning and Swan Education 
Districts Strategic Alliance.

• Swan TAFE’s partnership with the Ricky Grace Clontarf Girls Foundation has provided an opportunity for 
the College to pilot retention and participation programs for young, ‘at-risk’ indigenous women. The pilot 
program is being delivered at the Clontarf Aboriginal College, Belmont City College and YuleBrook College. 
Two intakes have been conducted and it is envisaged that 80 young women will participate in the program 
over a four year time frame. Part of the program also includes the provision of aboriginal school based 
traineeships. 

 This support will help the students continue through into a certificate II traineeship and post completion of 
the traineeship, into employment via a traineeship pathway for the same qualification.

• Swan TAFE’s School Apprenticeship Link (SAL) program provides school students with the opportunity to 
gain skills in trade areas. This year the College delivered 12,600 SCH via the SAL in the following industry 
areas:

 • Automotive;

 • Building and Construction;

 • Food Trades; and

 • Metals and Engineering.

Following the successful implementation and student outcomes from 2006, Swan TAFE will be delivering the 
SAL program in the following areas in 2007:

• Light Manufacturing; and

• Wholesale, Retail and Personal Services.

Swan TAFE generally services communities where a high number of disengaged young people reside. Given 
the demographics of these areas, both the Swan and Canning School Districts, with which the College works, 
have student populations for whom VET is a preferred educational pathway. In response to this, Swan TAFE 
has developed a range of VET for Schools programs which develop clear pathways for students, including 
‘engaging in learning’ short programs.

Training Alliance Services
The Training Alliance Services unit provides a single point of contact for industry when negotiating training 
requirements with Swan TAFE. Training Alliance Coordinators are employed to liaise with industry and to 
coordinate a training response in consultation with the delivery areas from the College.

Achievements in 2006
• Swan TAFE was awarded top place in the Outstanding Provider category of the 2006 Western Australian 

Adult Learner Week Awards. This award was in recognition of Swan TAFE’s commitment to the provision of 
life long learning opportunities for a diverse range of clients.

• Swan TAFE’s ‘Supa Golf’ program, designed as an interesting alternative to often dull and routine 
physiotherapy and exercise for people with a disability, was awarded top honours in the Best Program 
category at the Adult Learners’ Week Awards.

 The ‘Supa Golf’ program was designed in collaboration with key stakeholders from three local community 
organisations that care for people with disabilities, as well as the Palm Grove ‘Supa Golf’ Course and Swan 
TAFE. Each stakeholder contributed to the program design by considering how the needs of the client 
group could be best met.



34

Annual Report 2006

International Business and Higher Education
Director: Sharee Hogg

International Business and Higher Education is a newly formed division within 
Organisational Services.  Due to the increasing growth in both areas, the division was 
established to increase Swan TAFE’s ability to be able to capitalise on the increase 
in demand.  International Business and Higher Education was formed through the 
amalgamation of the Research and Development unit, within the Teaching and 
Learning division and the International Centre.  

The International Centre at Swan TAFE’s Bentley campus is internationally 
recognised and highly respected for both its accredited English language training and for its delivery of 
all ‘Commonwealth Register of Institutions and Courses for Overseas Students’ coded TAFEWA award 
courses.

The Higher Education unit is responsible for the coordination and development of matters in relation 
to Higher Education qualifications such as associate degrees.  This includes the development of 
documents such as Associate Degree Accreditation and Authorisation Submissions, Higher Education 
policies and procedures and FEE-HELP compliance.

Achievements in 2006
International Centre

• Attracted a total of 935 student enrolments, which included 564 international students, into various 
courses across several campuses. 371 students enrolled in English language programs.

• Hosted many cultural exchange and study tour programs from various universities and colleges 
offshore for two to five-week periods including:  Kagawa Nutrition University and Kagawa Vocational 
College of Nutrition in Japan; Osaka College of Foreign Language and International Business; the 
College of Rolland Garros, Reunion Island; and Hiroshima College of Foreign Languages.

• Negotiated a six week training program for automotive lecturers from the Chongqing Industrial 
Polytechnic College in January 2007.

• Successfully negotiated the undertaking of competency testing for 13 welders from Bangladesh to 
enable them to successfully pass the Australian Standards practical testing. 

• Developed agreements between the China Australia Business School, Kagawa Education Institute of 
Nutrition, Chongqing Industrial Polytechnic College and International Economic Cultural Education 
Exchange Centre. 

• Prepared a proposal for delivery of multiple programs and further articulation to Australian programs 
for the Guangzhou Pearl River Vocational Technology Institute.

• Signed a Memorandum of Understanding with Northlink College in South Africa.

• Hosted visits from overseas delegations including the Handan Education Bureau in China, Northlink 
College in South Africa and Lianoning Polytechnic in China.  

• Successfully won a bid to project manage WA’s participation in the 2007 joint TAFE Directors 
Australia and, China Education Association for International Exchange Project. This forms part of 
the China/Australia VET Leadership Capacity Building Shadowing/Mentoring Program.

• Hosted Ms Yang Ping from the Australia-China (Chongqing) VET Project to conduct a three month 
mentoring program with Swan TAFE’s executive.

• Continued the staff exchange program with Kagawa Vocational University in Japan including 
commercial cookery and food trades training through which both institutions have gained an 
understanding of the various teaching methodologies and educational systems that exist in the 
respective countries.

• Submitted a proposal to conduct training in multi-cultural awareness and customer service to the 
Beijing 2008 Olympic Games team.
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Higher Education Unit
• Successful accreditation and authorisation of the Associate Degree in Hospitality Management.  As 

a result, Swan TAFE was the first TAFEWA college to offer an associate degree program.

• Successfully sought and received federal approval to offer FEE-HELP subsidies to local students 
who study within the newly established associate degree program.  Again, this success ensured 
that Swan TAFE will be the first TAFEWA college to offer FEE-HELP subsidies to students.

• Currently working towards completing the development of four new associate degree programs in:

 • Business;

 • Aviation (Aeronautics);

 • Aviation (Management); and 

 • Aviation (Maintenance Engineering).

• Establishment of the Educational Research Committee.  The aim of this committee is to oversee 
the way that research is conducted within or on behalf of Swan TAFE. The work of the Educational 
Research Committee will support the development of a culture of high quality educational research 
within Swan TAFE. 

• Finalisation of the National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER) research grant and 
the development of the off-shore auspicing resources package.

• Continued collaboration with Murdoch University in the development of Swan TAFE’s associate 
degree programs.

Meeting Government Priorities
Swan TAFE, through its International Centre which provides international marketable courses and 
offshore development of programs, is committed to international business.  It will continue to be a 
major provider of international business both on and off shore.
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Teaching and Learning
A/Director: Melanie Sorensen

The Teaching and Learning division of Swan TAFE is responsible for the quality 
assurance of training delivery and assessment offered at Swan TAFE through:

•   The development and implementation of academic policies and procedures;

•   The provision of relevant professional development for all lecturing staff; 

•   The induction of new lecturing staff;

•   The introduction of new teaching and learning practice;

•   Researching and developing new products and services; and 

•   Raising awareness and ensuring the College responds to emergent issues within 
the VET sector and relevant industry partners. 

Achievements in 2006

Product and Services Development
• The Research and Development unit were responsible for coordinating the development and 

submission of the Associate Degree in Hospitality Management to the Higher Education Advisory 
Committee. As part of this submission the unit developed an organisational framework for the 
delivery of associate degrees.

Professional Development 
• Swan TAFE continues to lead the TAFEWA Training and Assessment (TAA) Collaboration Network 

for the Certificate IV in Training and Assessment.  Based on the recommendations of this network, 
a TAA Curriculum Advisory Group (CAG) has been established and met four times throughout 2006.  
The TAA collaboration network met the day preceding each of the CAG meetings and agreement 
between the two groups has meant that costs for travel and accommodation are shared.  These 
arrangements will continue in 2007.

• The TAFEWA Lecturers Qualification Framework continues to be implemented at Swan TAFE with 
30 new lecturing staff being enrolled in the Essential Skills Internship Program throughout 2006.   
Feedback from the TAA Collaboration Network has indicated that Swan TAFE has the largest number 
of interns in the State.
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In addition, training and skills recognition for the Certificate IV in Training and Assessment was available 
to all existing Swan TAFE lecturers, free of charge, through the Teaching and Learning division.

Using the Teaching and Learning Strategy Group (TLASG) funding the following professional development 
opportunities were offered to all lecturing staff:

• Action learning programs were offered in all delivery areas implementing new training programs 
for 2006.

• Whole of College professional development days:  Each year Swan TAFE allocates professional  
development days providing lecturing staff with the opportunity to attend.  This year, all Swan  
TAFE lecturing staff attended these professional development workshops.

• Quality Day:  At this one day event Swan TAFE staff and managers focussed on ‘how to improve 
what we do’ and ‘how we do it’ by assessing the future directions for the College. The past 
year’s successes were recognised and discussion took place on defining better ways to work 
collaboratively with colleagues and in units.  Quality Day also provided an opportunity to celebrate 
with staff and units that had been nominated for various awards as part of the Swan TAFE 
Rewards and Recognition Program.

• Induction program for new staff:  Two induction programs were undertaken during 2006. The 
program for each of these professional development workshops was designed to provide support 
to new lecturing staff.  Interns attended a range of sessions over three days and were introduced 
to Swan TAFE policies and procedures as well as the Certificate IV in Training and Assessment 
internship.

• Structured mentoring program for new staff:  The Mentor Program, funded by TLASG, provided 
additional support to lecturing staff enrolled in the Certificate IV in Training and Assessment.  This 
funding enabled a quality mentor program for new VET practitioners undertaking the Certificate 
IV in Training and Assessment to be undertaken.  Teaching and Learning staff supported a 
mentoring program throughout the year.  This ensured that any issues were quickly identified and 
dealt with.  Regular meetings were held with both mentors and mentees and positive feedback 
has been received to support this strategy.

• Mental Health First Aid:  This two day professional development workshop, held in December 
2006, enabled staff to undertake training for Mental Health First Aid - help provided to a person 
developing a mental health problem or in a mental health crisis. The first aid is given until 
appropriate professional treatment is received or until the crisis resolves.

• VETsteps facilitator training:  Four staff from the Access and Community Services division 
undertook a six-day VETsteps Facilitator course.  This course highlighted strategies for assisting 
students to tackle the literacy demands encountered in school or workplace contexts.  The 
course participants are now certified to conduct the two-day VETsteps Teacher course for other 
Swan TAFE staff.  They are also able to offer ongoing, localised support after conducting these 
courses.

• State and National Conferences:  Staff were given the opportunity to attend a wide range of 
conferences including the 2006 Global Summit and the Reframing the Future conference ‘New 
Ways of Working in VET’.

• Teaching and Learning supported, developed, project managed and accessed external funding for 
a range of projects including: 

• Reframing the Future: Grants for two projects were received with a focus on skills development, 
development of assessment strategies and change management. 

• LearnScope WA: Successfully applied for funding for five projects to develop flexible approaches 
to training and delivery across the College. 

• DET:  

• Using PDA’s for assessing on and off-the-job;

• Instructional intelligence; and

• Fresh thinking program, two Swan TAFE staff were accepted for this program.

• Australian Flexible Learning Framework E-game Toolbox project:  E-game for the trades 
(plumbing).
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Learning Resource Centres (LRC’s)
• This year saw the redevelopment of all 

library facilities, including the expansion and 
improvement of computers and learning 
spaces at all campuses to create Learning 
Resource Centres (LRC’s). Notable also was 
the co-location of College bookshops at 
Bentley and Carlisle into the LRC areas, thus 
providing a single customer service point for 
the provision of learning materials. 

 As part of this development the following 
also took place:

• Redevelopment of the open access computer area at Midland campus with an architecturally 
designed learning space improving the overall atmosphere and attractiveness of the area. The 
number of accessible computers was doubled to 40, all updated to the latest LCD technology, 
Internet and multimedia capability.

• Bentley campus library had its floor space doubled and a new accessible frontage established 
external to the building. The new frontage provides a secure after hours access to the computer 
area, a service not previously provided on any campus. The success of this service will be 
carefully monitored for possible extension to other campuses in the future.

• The redevelopment of the Carlisle campus featured the joining of two small learning centres into 
a single learning resource area, on the ground floor immediately adjacent to student facilities. The 
development included extensive refurbishment of the area and increased areas for computers.

During 2006, the Library Services unit 
worked to develop policy and procedural 
documents, by reviewing systems and 
implementing opportunities for improvement. 
These improvements mainly related to de-
duplicating materials handling, reducing 
costly customisations for some branches 
and broadening the scope of documents to 
accommodate the management of a wider range 
of resource formats, particularly online and 
electronic. This project was targeted at changing 
the culture of library services from building 
collections to providing access to resources, 

no matter the format. This change in focus has been reflected in the selection of resources for 
the development of Swan TAFE’s associate degree programs, where the first e-books have been 
incorporated into the collections. 

 The skills and abilities of the LRC to manage and promote the use of e-resources will be a challenge 
into the future.
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Curriculum Support Services Network (CSSN)
Manager: Colin Crocker

The Mining, Engineering, Trades and Services CSSN is located at Swan TAFE’s 
Bentley campus and operates as a discrete unit within the Organisational Services 
professional team of the College.  The unit is managed by three CSSN division 
officers and supported by administration assistants through an integrated suite of 
Curriculum Advisory Groups (CAGS), a Management Committee and an Executive 
Committee.

Achievements in 2006
• Completion of the Metals and Engineering Training Package Implementation Guide and the 

Automotive Manufacturing (Bus, Truck & Trailer Sector) Training Package Purchasing Guide.

• Strengthening of relationships with key interstate stakeholders such as industry skills councils. 
With long delays in training package endorsements and staff shortages at the Federal Department 
of Education Science and Technology (DEST), resulting in communication breakdowns, interstate 
contacts are increasingly relied upon to remain current with activities in the various industry areas.

• Increased collaboration amongst CAG members – there has been a greater number of CAGs 
demonstrating a willingness to adopt a more collaborative approach to sharing knowledge and 
resources.

• CAGs have adopted a more proactive approach to contributing to the development of purchasing 
guides and the implementation of training packages. As an example the textiles, clothing and 
footwear CAG members have worked together to complete model training programs and consider 
nominal hours for the extension to their training package.  This work was largely completed prior to 
the training package being endorsed. The group through funding of a curriculum project, have also 
considered assessment methods and assessment tools in preparation for delivery from semester 
two, 2007 onwards.

• Revision of the metal fabrication and welding text by WestOne.

• Visits by Manufacturing Skills Australia to provide professional development for practitioners and 
stakeholders (workshops conducted in the metropolitan area, South West and Pilbara Region).

• Regional networking at VTEC Kalgoorlie, Pilbara TAFE, Central West College of TAFE, Great Southern 
TAFE, Kimberley TAFE, CY O’Connor TAFE and the Cunderdin and Harvey Agricultural Colleges.

• Contribution to national initiatives such as the Rationalisation of Training Packages Project.

• Involvement in the SAL program leading to the final SAL Coordinating Committee meeting with 
TAFEWA colleges now assuming responsibility for SAL coordination and delivery.

• Successful introduction of moderation sessions for the furnishing and plumbing and gas fitting 
practitioners – these industry areas have not previously been involved in state wide validation.

• Coordination of seminars for furnishing, automotive, plumbing and gas fitting, hospitality and TCF 
practitioners – feedback on the value of such seminars continues to be extremely positive.
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Resources and Corporate Services
General Manager: Jim Eftos

Resources and Corporate Services provide ‘systems and processes’ that support 
Swan TAFE’s business environment.

Human Resources and Workforce Planning
Director: Bernie Underwood

Swan TAFE’s Human Resources and Workforce Planning mission is:

‘To provide a comprehensive range of human resources services that meet 
customer expectations, to contribute to the achievement of the College 
mission, vision and values and to allow staff to optimise their aspirations in 
an environment that fosters merit, equal opportunity and ethical standards’. 

Employment Relations and Resources - Staff Resources (Treasurer’s Instructions 903 [(4)(vii)])
Staff resources for Swan TAFE are illustrated by employment category on a full-time equivalent basis 
in the table below:

Employment Category 2005 2006
Corporate Executive 4 4
Academic/Lecturing 481 502
Academic Support 161 168
Administration/Clerical 228 223
TOTAL 874 897

Policy Implementation, Reviews and Development (Treasurer’s Instruction 903 [(4)(vii)(a)])
During 2006, Swan TAFE’s Human Resources and Workforce Planning division contributed to the 
development of a range of strategies that, in turn, assisted in the development and implementation of 
the College’s organisational renewal strategy. 

The division was also instrumental in undertaking further review of the existing human resources policies 
and the subsequent amendment of College policies to meet the AQTF legislative requirements.    

Achievements in 2006
• Development and implementation of major lecturer recruitment advertising initiative (‘tricks of trade’ 

campaign) to  engage new lecturers across the College, particularly in the skills shortage delivery 
areas.

• Implementation of the College customer service centre’s staffing structure to address agency 
strategic and corporate objectives outlined through the organisational renewal strategy.

• Implementation of the DET criminal screening process. 

• Coordination and establishment of the DET shared services model. 

• Development of procedures to provide for the implementation of the Government’s policy regarding 
criminal screening and working with children checks. 
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Occupational Safety and Health

Achievements in 2006
• As is a requirement under the Occupational Safety & Health (OS&H) Act, 1984 and the Workers 

Compensation and Rehabilitation Act, 1991, noise surveys were conducted at Midland and Thornlie 
campuses, in areas considered to pose a noise risk to employees.  The survey identified areas 
where the risk of exposure to noise was in excess of the recommended daily dose.

• Workshop inspections were carried out by area health and safety representatives. Some concerns 
were identified in these areas resulting in new and safer equipment being purchased.  

• Basic first-aid courses were run for the first time in 2006, complementing senior first-aid courses 
already offered by the College. The basic course provides an opportunity for staff that are unable to 
attend the three-day course to learn basic life support skills including the use of a defibrillator and 
the administration of oxygen. 

• The OS&H unit continues to provide eye screening, hearing assessments and ergonomic surveys 
for staff complaining of discomfort at their workstations. There was also a flu vaccination program 
for all staff during 2006. 

• There has been an increase in the number of staff wanting to represent their campus on the relevant 
Occupational Safety and Health Committee.        

Meeting Government Priorities
In order to meet the requirements of the State’s occupational safety and health legislation, training in 
the correct use and inspection of chains and slings was organised for all relevant staff during 2006.  
All campuses now have a fully qualified dogman on staff, ensuring that all lifting and crane equipment 
meets relevant Australian Standards.

Professional and Career Development
The Professional and Career Development (PACD) unit continued to expand the range of professional 
and career development opportunities for all Swan TAFE staff in 2006.

In addition to its standard in-house generic skills development programs in areas such as occupational 
safety & health, cultural awareness, administration and finance, PACD also assisted in the delivery of 
industry specific training opportunities for lecturing staff.
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Achievements in 2006
• The SCDL program was introduced to 

significantly enhance the skills and knowledge 
base of all College staff in the application of 
computer programs. The program has been 
taken up by a significant percentage of staff.

• The Succession and Leadership Program 
training initiative was introduced for Swan 
TAFE staff involved in leading and managing 
work units or teams.  The aim of the program 
was to provide competency in the following six 
key areas of training and assessment, drawn 
from the ‘TAFEWA Managers Framework’:

• Shaping the vision, values and strategic direction of TAFEWA.

• Leading individuals, units and clients to achieve College goals.

• Providing excellent products and services.

• Establishing and maintaining strong relationships.

• Developing and managing resources within TAFEWA.

• Developing personal mastery.

• Swan TAFE’s Wellness Program was 
implemented to promote improved health 
awareness and fitness and to encourage the 
voluntary participation of Swan TAFE employees 
in a variety of activities designed to positively 
influence staff members’ health and wellbeing, 
attitude to work and ability to balance home/
work life.  The program represents the College’s 
investment in its most valuable asset – its 
employees.

• Assisted the Teaching and Learning division 
in the implementation of a two-day generic staff 
induction program followed by a further three-

day program developed specifically for new lecturing staff.

• Instrumental in the development and implementation of a comprehensive two-day professional 
development package of highly targeted programs to assist non-lecturing staff to broaden their 
knowledge and skill base associated with their current duties. 

New Partnerships
PACD continued to identify and source highly specific staff training programs from a large number of 
private providers.  Accordingly, the College has continued to broaden its ongoing relationships with 
external agencies involved in staff development activities.
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Information and Communication Technology Services
Director: David Beeson

The Information and Communications Technology (ICT) Services division plans 
and undertakes strategic ICT projects on behalf of the College as well as providing 
operational support for the technical ICT infrastructure and College information 
systems. 

 
 

Achievements in 2006
• Multi-function device rollout - A total of 75 multifunction printing devices were installed in 2006 that 

comprised 72 walk-up convenience machines and three high speed production machines.  The solution 
also incorporated a charge back system for students and staff, a remote print ordering facility for production 
print runs and a document management system for print ready production jobs. 

• Disaster recovery testing - An ICT disaster recovery plan was developed in 2005 and endorsed by Corporate 
Executive.  In 2006, a scenario-based disaster recovery test plan was developed that included the recovery 
of three core College information systems.  Fully documented recovery procedures were followed throughout 
the test which was conducted in the presence of an independent auditor and achieved a 100% recovery.  
Training in the use and execution of the plan was also delivered to key College stakeholders.

• Trades grant PC rollout – With funding secured in 2005, approximately 400 obsolete PCs have been replaced 
with 380 new high specification PC’s across all trade training delivery areas.

• Multimedia Facilities - A significant upgrade of classroom based multimedia training facilities has been 
undertaken.  A total of 24 classrooms have been fitted with data projectors, amplified speakers, control 
systems and dedicated lecturer PC’s.  A further 42 data projectors and laptops have been deployed as a 
mobile fleet for use exclusively in classrooms.

• Core ICT infrastructure upgrade - A number of core components of the ICT infrastructure have been 
upgraded and new facilities implemented throughout 2006.  This includes the replacement of UPS systems 
at Bentley, Midland and Thornlie campuses, replacement of six core servers, replacement of all tape backup 
devices, upgrade of all server operating systems to Windows 2003, implementation of an anti-spam and 
anti-spyware solution and deployment of Internet content filtering and remote network access gateway 
appliances.

• Cibatech Centres - Cibatech Centres have been established at Armadale, Balga, Bentley, Carlisle, Midland 
and Thornlie.  The centres provide students with access to PCs and loan fleets of personal digital assistants 
with wireless Internet connection in a work group environment.  The centres are also suitable for training 
delivery to small groups of students.

• Citrix remote access gateway - A citrix remote access gateway has been deployed that enables staff to 
securely connect to the College network via the Internet regardless of location.  The gateway has been 
subjected to an independent penetration test to ensure that the facility is fully secure from unauthorised 
access.

• Executive Information System (EIS) - Ongoing development of the EIS has continued during 2006.  Three 
additional modules namely the resource agreement module, profile planning tool and accreditation and 
registration database have been developed and implemented.

• Enterprise network switching environment upgrade - A significant upgrade to the Swan TAFE network 
switching environment has been completed and will be deployed prior to the commencement of term one 
2007.  The upgrade includes policies (rule sets) that are enforced at the switch port level that cover issues 
such as acceptable use policy, secure application provisioning and secure guest access.  The upgrade also 
includes the deployment of a secure wireless network across all major campuses.  The new environment will 
enable students and staff to connect their private computing devices to the Swan TAFE wireless network 
without compromising network security.

Meeting Government Priorities
• The introduction of 75 new multifunction printing devices resulted in the decommissioning of four high 

speed production copiers, 95 convenience photocopiers and 141 laser and inkjet printers.  The operating 
cost and of the new fleet will be much lower in terms of power costs, consumables and maintenance and 
there will be far less equipment to recycle at end of their life.

• All new multifunction printing devices default to double-sided printing which will result in considerable 
paper savings.

• A program has been developed to monitor classroom PC usage.  It is anticipated that this will facilitate more 
effective use of the PC fleet and ultimately a reduction in the fleet size.
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Facilities and Infrastructure Planning
Director: Glen Robinson

The Facilities and Infrastructure Planning division is responsible for the development, 
management and deployment of the physical assets of Swan TAFE, in keeping with 
the College’s vision and mission; and master plan  The division works with the Swan 
TAFE’s Corporate Executive to develop and maintain a comprehensive view of the 
College’s current and future facility and equipment needs.  The division also works 
with DET to secure funding in support of Swan TAFE’s infrastructure needs and 
to manage capital projects as well as the Department of Housing and Works to 

maintain each campus, the fabric of the buildings and the building systems within.  

Achievements in 2006
• Partnered with external consultants Donaldson and Warn to develop a Master Plan for future 

strategic capital investment across all Swan TAFE campuses.

• Planned and delivered a program of works across all campuses, in support of the Swan TAFE re-
engineering process which also reflected the key priorities of the Corporate Executive.

• Delivered the annual, DPA funded, minor works program across all campuses.

• Partnered with the Department of Housing and Works to implement the annual planned maintenance 
program.

• Delivered the $1.6 million upgrade of U Block at the College’s Balga campus - (Building and 
Construction Trades Reorganisation Project - Stage One).

• Supported the Corporate Executive in securing $3.1 million in DET Capital Grants for critical-need 
building projects, serving areas of apprenticeship and traineeship growth.

• Commenced construction of new coffee (barista) school at the Bentley campus.

Balga Campus
• Completed stage one of the Building and Construction Trades Reorganisation Project.

Bentley Campus
• Learning Resource Centre - extend and upgrade to incorporate new computer-based learning 

centre (Cybercentre); 

• Customer Service Centre - upgrade and co-locate;

• Animal studies building - alterations and additions; 

• Cafeteria upgrade - stage one; 

• International classrooms (J Block) - repaint and refurbish; and

• Corporate directorate – refurbishment.

Carlisle Campus
• F Block control room and systems – upgrade; 

• Customer Service Centre - relocate and upgrade;

• New Learning Resource Centre; and

• Creation of new Automotive Diagnostic Training Laboratory (Degem).

Midland Campus
• New Gas Vehicle Refueling Training Facility; and

• Print Cell – relocation.

Thornlie Campus
• Print Cell – relocation.

All Campuses
• Progressive upgrade of lecturer workstations (ongoing).
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Campus Management and Client Services
Director: Jeff McDonough

2006 saw a restructure of the campus based administrative model take place. The 
centralisation model was the result of a review which commenced during 2005 and 
included input from a range of key College stakeholders. 

Administration was centralised and customer service centres were established to 
better meet client needs and avoid duplication of services. The structure will be 
reviewed in 2007 to ensure deliverables are being met.

The new structure has two distinct focuses that are co-dependent of one another, yet managed 
through two separate processes. These areas of focus are Delivery Services and Information and Client 
Services both managed within the Campus Management and Client Services division. This division has 
in excess of 80 staff.

Achievements
• Filling of strategic management positions; 

• Staff multi-skilling and succession planning strategies developed;

• Strong team culture created and maintained;

• New procedures and work instructions documented;

• Significant reduction in energy usage responding to the ‘Greening Australia’ program;

• Student services contribution in planning of the CRISS for students;

• Facilitating student participation in a number of events, both at state and national level; 

• Successful completion of first on-line centralised enrolment during semester two;

• Major facility improvements across each campus; and 

• NAIDOC week celebrations arranged at each major campus.

Finance and Purchasing
Director: Roger Nurse

The Finance and Purchasing division provides a comprehensive range of services to 
the College that, whilst maintaining compliance with regulatory requirements, also meet 
customer expectations, and contribute to the College mission, vision and values.

Achievements in 2006
A major focus for the division in 2006 was the introduction of DET’s Shared Services 
operations for the accounts receivable, accounts payable, general ledger and assets 
management functions, across the TAFEWA sector. This was successfully implemented 

at Swan TAFE in August 2006.

To successfully implement the changes, a full review and documentation of accounting process and procedures 
was required, followed by group meetings with other TAFEWA colleges to standardise practices. Processes 
were then further modified to incorporate the additional steps required for the inclusion of the DET’s Shared 
Services team.
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Contracts and Purchasing
Swan TAFE’s Contracts and Purchasing unit continues to focus on achieving best practice tendering 
and contract management that generates cost savings and efficiencies and maintains strict standards of 
accountability and transparency.

This has been achieved through continued consolidation of goods and services together with e-commerce 
and clear procurement guidelines as key initiatives to effective customer service. Performance management 
and feedback also continues to boost contractual relationships and outcomes. 

Achievements
• The establishment of a reporting system to facilitate the buy local reporting requirements for the State 

Government. This further demonstrates Swan TAFE’s commitment to supporting local industry. 

• The implementation of formal contract management plans for contracts which are complex and/or high 
in value to effectively identify, minimise and manage a myriad of risks and any potential conflicts of 
interest.

• Procurement personnel continue to be trained and skilled to conduct best practice tendering and 
contract management which generates value for money outcomes and efficiencies to Swan TAFE. This is 
maintained by regular training of staff via relevant procurement courses and seminars such as:

• Government common use contract seminars;

• Swan TAFE in-house training and skills development programs;

• IT courses for further development in skills, knowledge and competencies; and 

• Other government seminars and workshops.

Swan TAFE’s Contracts and Purchasing unit will continue to assist and encourage staff to learn and develop 
by establishing, and agreeing on, achievable outcomes. 

Furthermore, the unit will maintain its focus on marketing its services to all divisions within Swan TAFE as 
well as suppliers, whilst emphasising the need to support Government policies.
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Student Demographics 

Students by full-time and part-time
This graph indicates the number of students enrolled either full-time or part-time in profile and non-
profile categories.

Profile Delivery: 18.6% (3,921) of students were enrolled full-time, with 81.4% (17,173) enrolled part-
time.

Non-Profile Delivery: 862 students were enrolled on a full-time basis (10.4%) with 7,458 students 
enrolled part-time (89.6%)

Overall, 83.7% of the student population were enrolled on a part-time basis.

21,094 Profile Students,  8,320 Non-Profile Students

The source data was extracted using student identification numbers and student curriculum hours to determine delivery status. 

All delivery totals are for individual students however, students may be counted twice if they enrol in both profile and non-profile 

delivery (estimated error < 3%).  Students who enrol for less than 442 hours per annum are classified as part-time.

Student Numbers by Delivery Status
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Students by gender
This graph shows the gender distribution for both profile and non-profile students. 

The 2006 gender mix shows that the College has a higher proportion of male students in profile 
activities (66.7%) and in non-profiled activities (54.5%). Overall male students accounted for 63.2% of 
the student population.

In terms of SCH, the gender distribution shows a similar pattern with the profile male students accounting 
for 64.0% of SCH delivery and the non-profile male students accounting for 61.8% of delivery. 

Total Students overall - Male 63.2% & Female 36.8%

The data was sourced using student identification numbers to determine their gender, with the measure covering profile and 

non-profile delivery. All delivery totals are individual students however, students may be counted twice if enrolled in both profile 

and non-profile delivery (estimated error < 3%).

Student Numbers by Gender
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Students by postcode region
This graph indicates the delivery catchment for all students. It shows that 64.8% of the student 
population live within Swan TAFE’s main catchment area with another 25.1% living in ‘other’ metropolitan 
suburbs. 10.1%  reside outside of the metropolitan area, which includes country regions, interstate and 
overseas.

Swan TAFE’s main catchment covers the local government areas of Swan, Mundaring, Kalamunda, 
Bassendean, Bayswater, Belmont, Victoria Park, Stirling, South Perth, Gosnells, Canning, and 
Armadale.

64.8% of students reside within the Swan TAFE main catchment area

The data was sourced using student identification numbers and linking student residential postcodes to the College’s regional 

delivery categories. All delivery totals are of individual students however, students may be counted twice if enrolled in both profile 

and non-profile delivery (estimated error < 3%).

Students by Regionality
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Students by age group
The figure below shows that the majority of students are over 20 years of age (64.0%).  In the 15-19 age 
category 71.4% of students are males.  In the 20-29 age category 68.7% of students are males.  In age 
groups between 40 and 60 there are more female students than male students.

Main age group 15-19 year old (10,213 students 34.7%)

The data was sourced using student identification numbers linking them to the relevant age group categories.  All delivery totals 

are individual students however, students may be counted twice if enrolled in both profile and non-profile delivery (estimated 

error < 3%.).
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Special needs groups
In 2006 students with special needs represented 18.3% of the total student population.

• Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander: 700 students stated they were Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander 
(2.4%).

• Non-English Speaking Backgrounds: 2,898 students stated they spoke a language other than 
English at home (9.9%).

• Students with a Disability: 1,797 students stated that they had a disability (6.1%).

Special Needs Groups Graph

 
The data was sourced by extracting those students who indicated on the enrolment questionnaire that they were of ‘Aboriginal 

or Torres Strait Islander’ origin or ‘spoke a language other than English at home’, or had a ‘disability’.  Students are asked to 

complete the statistical information upon enrolment however, they may decline to answer or tick more than one category.
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Meeting Government Priorities
Swan TAFE is meeting the state government objectives for:

• maximising training delivery and retention rates for the 15-19 year age group;

• providing VET to Government schools; and

• increasing training delivery for employed apprentices and trainees, including school-based 
trainees.

15-19 Age Group
During 2006 Swan TAFE provided training to 10,213 students aged 15-19. This represents 34.7% of all 
Swan TAFE clients. 2,987,733 SCH were delivered to this cohort that represents 41.4% of total Swan 
TAFE SCH. 

Vocational education and training 
to schools
During 2006, Swan TAFE provided 
VET to 2,981 students enrolled in 
schools, known as VET for Schools.

Of these students, 990 were serviced 
through the College’s contracted 
delivery (profile) funded activities as 
specified in its DPA with DET.

The remaining 1,991 students were 
serviced through non profile funded 
activities, of which 1,827 students 
were serviced through fee for service 
auspicing arrangements whereby 
Swan TAFE undertook validation, 
moderation and monitoring of 
vocational delivery and assessment 
undertaken at high schools.

Apprenticeships and Traineeships
Swan TAFE provided training to a total of 8,724 apprentices and trainees, of which 234 students 
indicated that they were of Aboriginal or Torres Straight Islander descent.  From the total apprentices 
and trainees 152 were enrolled through VET in schools activities, of which 69 indicated they were 
Aboriginal or Torres Straight Islander.
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Auditor General’s Letter
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Certification of Key Performance Indicators 
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Key Performance Indicators

Outcome - Provision of vocational education and training services to meet community and 
business needs.
Swan TAFE has developed key performance indicators (KPI) to monitor the delivery of its contracted 
profile (profile) and non-profile training activities. The College uses these indicators to review its 
performance and as part of a commitment to improve programs and services.  These indicators 
relate to the achievement of the College outcome ‘the provision of vocational education and training 
services to meet community and business needs’, which supports the government strategic objective 
to provide an educated and skilled future for all Western Australians. Links are also evident to DET’s 
desired outcome that seeks to meet industry, regional and community training needs and priorities. The 
following indicators measure the effectiveness and efficiency of the College in achieving the desired 
outcome.

1. Effectiveness Indicators

a. Student Satisfaction
This indicator measures the extent to which clients are satisfied with the training they received from Swan 
TAFE.  It is based on a state-wide Student Satisfaction Survey commissioned annually by DET through 
an independent agency. The survey seeks student views on the quality of VET services.  Students are 
also asked to rate their level of satisfaction with their courses, and the quality of teaching, delivery 
support and advisory services provided.  The measurement of student satisfaction is the percentage of 
enrolled students who were either satisfied or very satisfied with their course/services provided.

Table 1 - Student Satisfaction
Survey Year Swan TAFE Western Australia
2003 87% 85%
2004 86% 84%
2005 88% 85%
2006 85% 86%

A slightly lower proportion of Swan TAFE students (85%) were either satisfied or very satisfied with 
their course this year as compared to 2005 (88%). However, overall satisfaction levels are very similar 
to state levels (86%).

A total of 1,516 Swan TAFE students responded to the 2006 Student Satisfaction Survey, comprising 
59% institutional based and 41% employment based students.  The response rate to the survey for 
Swan TAFE was 20% with a standard error of ±1.9% at a 95% confidence level.

b. Graduate Satisfaction
Graduate satisfaction measures the extent to which TAFE graduates consider that they have fully or 
partly achieved their main reason for undertaking VET.  The indicator is based on a national student 
outcomes survey commissioned annually by the NCVER. The survey targets students who graduated 
from TAFE institutes in Australia in the year prior to the survey being undertaken and had an Australian 
address as their usual residence.  

The graduate satisfaction measure shows the percentage of graduates who indicated they had fully 
achieved (yes) or partly achieved their main reason for doing the training.  The question has four 
response options ‘yes’, ‘no’, ‘partly’ or ‘don’t know yet’ with some students electing not to provide a 
response to the question. 
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Table 2 – Graduate Satisfaction 1, 2, 3

2003 2004 4 2005 5 2006 6

Midland College 78% n/a n/a n/a
South East Metropolitan College 78% n/a n/a n/a
Swan TAFE n/a n/a 84% n/a
Western Australia 77% n/a 84% 89%
Australia 78% n/a 85% 87%

Note 1: It is important to note that Swan TAFE was formed on 1st January 2003 through an amalgamation of South East 

Metropolitan College of TAFE, Midland College of TAFE and Balga campus of West Coast College of TAFE. Data from 

previous years for these other institutions has been included in some instances to assist in the comparative analysis 

of trends.

Note 2:  Table 2 excludes Balga campus because the data from the West Coast TAFE survey could not be extracted at campus 

level.  

Note 3:  Figures are rounded to the nearest percent.

Note 4:  The College is unable to provide an update to this KPI as statistically valid survey data was not available in 2004.  

Note 5:  In 2003 the student outcomes survey graduate satisfaction rate was based on all graduates, whereas in 2005 the 

student outcomes survey graduate satisfaction rate was based on respondents no longer enrolled, i.e. graduates who 

re-enrolled were excluded from the calculation. In 2005, 1,169 students from Swan TAFE were surveyed, of which 

1,094 were no longer enrolled. 

Note 6:  The College is unable to provide an update to this KPI as statistically valid survey data is not available at College 

level for 2006.  The National Centre for Vocational Education Research conducts surveys with an appropriate sample 

design to produce statistically reliable College level data in alternative years commencing from 2005. Therefore the 

next statistically reliable dataset for Swan TAFE will be available in 2007.

In 2005 1,169 Swan TAFE graduates responded to the 2005 Student Outcomes Survey which 
represented a population of 7,459 graduates.  The response rate to the survey for Swan TAFE was 
15.7% with a standard error of ±2.7% at a 95% confidence level.

In 2005, the Swan TAFE Graduate Satisfaction rate of 84% was equal to the State average.  The 2005 
survey results indicate a general increase in graduate satisfaction in both local and national levels.  This 
improved satisfaction rate may be partially explained by the fact that as of the 2005 survey, the base 
was made up only of graduates who were no longer enrolled. 

c. Graduate Employment
Graduate employment measures the employment outcomes of graduates who completed VET.  The 
measure is based on a national student outcomes survey commissioned by the NCVER. The survey 
targets students who graduated from a TAFE institute in Australia in the year prior to the survey being 
undertaken and had an Australian address as their usual residence.
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Table 3 - Graduate Employment 10, 12

 2003 2004 11 2005 10 2006 11

Midland – graduates employed 7 67% n/a n/a n/a
SEMC – graduates employed 7 78% n/a n/a n/a
Midland  – graduates unemployed 8 12% n/a n/a n/a
SEMC - graduates unemployed 8 12% n/a n/a n/a
Midland - graduates not in labour force  9 20% n/a n/a n/a
SEMC – graduates not in labour force  9 6% n/a n/a n/a
Midland - not stated 1% n/a n/a n/a
SEMC - not stated 1% n/a n/a n/a
Swan TAFE – graduates employed  7 n/a n/a 75% n/a
Swan TAFE  – graduates unemployed 8 n/a n/a 10% n/a
Swan TAFE – graduates not in labour force  9 n/a n/a 15% n/a
Swan TAFE – not stated n/a n/a 2% n/a
Western Australia graduates employed 7 73% n/a 78% 81%
Australia graduates employed

 7

74% n/a 79% 80%

Note 7:  In 2003 the graduates who were categorised as ‘employed’ referred to College graduates undertaking full-time or 

part-time employment on a given date in the survey year, whereas as of 2005 the graduates who were categorised 

as ‘employed’ refers to College graduates who are no longer enrolled and are undertaking full-time or part-time 

employment after completion of training.

Note 8:  The unemployed category refers to students seeking full-time or part-time employment and may include graduates 

who have re-enrolled into higher and further education. Table 3 excludes Balga campus because data from the West 

Coast TAFE survey could not be extracted at campus level.  

Note 9:  Graduates classified as ‘not in the labour force’ identified that they were not currently seeking employment, and may 

include graduates who have re-enrolled into higher and further education. 

Note 10:  In 2005 1,169 graduates from Swan TAFE were surveyed, of which 1,094 graduates indicated they were no longer 

enrolled. The number of graduates who were no longer enrolled was used in the 2005 survey to determine the Labour 

force status. 

Note 11: The College is unable to provide an update to this KPI as statistically valid survey data is not available for 2004 or 

2006.  The National Centre for Vocational Education Research conducts surveys with an appropriate sample design 

to produce statistically reliable College level data in alternative years commencing from 2005. Therefore the next 

statistically reliable dataset for Swan TAFE will be available in 2007.

Note 12:  Figures are rounded to the nearest percent.

The survey asked graduates to indicate their labour force status as at 27 May 2005. Graduate 
employment status was measured for each category (employed, not employed, and not in the labour 
force) and obtained by calculating the ratio of graduates in each category compared to the total valid 
responses (graduates who were no longer enrolled) and expressed as a percentage. 

The 2005 data shows that 75% of Swan TAFE graduates were employed on 27 May 2005, which is 3% 
lower than the State average (78%). This difference is partially explained by the percentage of Swan 
TAFE graduates (15%) who stated that they were ‘not in the labour force’ which is 2% higher than the 
State average of 13%.
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d. Achievement of non-profile delivery
Table 4 - Achievement of non-profile delivery 2006

Student 
Curriculum 
Hours (SCH) 
Achievement

Census 
SCH 
2003

SCH 
2003 
%

Census 
SCH 
2004

SCH 
2004 
%

Census 
SCH 
2005

SCH 
2005 %

Planned 
SCH 
2006 13

Census 
SCH 
2006 13

SCH 2006 
Achievement 
%

SCH 2006 
Census 
Variance 
Over 2005 
%

Non-Profile 
Delivery 919,692 13.50% 922,612 14.11% 967,890 14.16% 501,300 1,043,859 14.48% 7.85%

Profile 
Delivery 5,893,370 86.50% 5,614,000 85.89% 5,867,841 85.84% 6,148,700 6,166,700 85.52% 5.09%

Total Delivery 6,813,062 100.00% 6,536,612 100.00% 6,835,731 100.00% 6,650,000 7,210,559 100% 5.48%

This indicator demonstrates the extent to which the College generates non-profile VET delivery.  Non-
profile delivery covers industry skilling programs, overseas contracts, Adult Community Education, 
industry specific tenders, labour market programs, auspicing14 and other fee-for-service commercial 
activities.

The table shows that in 2006 the College’s non-profile delivery component was 14.48% of total delivery 
and that the total SCH delivery increased by 5.48%. Over 2005 contracted delivery (profile) increased 
by 5.09% and non-profile delivery increased by 7.85%).  

Note 13:  The actual census delivery SCH data was sourced from the February 2007 Australian Vocational Education and Training 

Management Information Statistical Standard (AVETMISS) collection for 2006 delivery and the contracted delivery 

(profile) delivery plan was sourced from the College’s 2006 DPA. The level of planned non-profile delivery in 2006 was 

reduced comparative to previous years in anticipation of an increase in contracted delivery (profile) particularly in skill 

shortage areas and the resulting requirement to focus College resources to meet these delivery demands.

Note 14:  Auspicing refers to the process of delivery validation and moderation on behalf of another provider as defined under 

RTO guidelines.
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e. Achievement of contracted delivery – profile (by Industry Group)
The College is required by the Vocational Education and Training Act, 1996 to develop a contracted delivery 
(profile) that is expressed in SCH. The profile presents in a matrix and forms the training delivery that the College 
is contracted to provide to meet the needs of its clients (including individuals, industry and the community). The 
contracted delivery (profile) is negotiated directly with DET and constitutes the College Training Plan as defined 
under the Act. The contracted delivery (profile) is documented in the form of a planning matrix by industry 
groups (as shown below). 

The planning matrix also reflects the range and depth of the College’s delivery in VET by industry and employment 
categories through broad association with the Australian Standard Classification of Occupations.

 Table 5 - Profiled Student Curriculum Hours (SCH) by Industry Groups

Industry Student Curriculum Hours (SCH)

Group Description 2004 Census 2005 Planned 2005 Census 2005 % 2006 Planned 2006 Census15 Achieved 2006%

01A Recreation Sports & Entertainment 24,955 30,517 23,372 76.6% 40,707 40,019 98.3%

01B Visual & Performing Arts 50,362 55,202 55,883 101.2% 49,555 49,132 99.1%

01C Design 0 0  n/a 0 0 0.0%

02A Automotive 399,114 468,291 479,711 102.4% 543,244 533,932 98.3%

03A Building & Constructions 455,943 539,933 528,472 97.9% 593,624 640,679 107.9%

03B Surveying & Building 62,070 70,430 68,170 96.8% 72,809 72,560 99.7%

04A Community Service Workers 288,299 275,887 267,565 97.0% 255,633 262,595 102.7%

04B Education & Childcare 278,427 282,303 286,393 101.4% 297,043 312,215 105.1%

04C Health 14,426 41,314 37,474 90.7% 28,533 27,823 97.5%

04D Library Workers 0 0  n/a 0 0 0.0%

05A Finance Insurance Property Service Workers 21,182 16,696 20,548 123.1% 15,386 14,903 96.9%

06A Food Trades & Processing 167,526 172,435 171,690 99.6% 173,578 162,617 93.7%

07A Clothing Footwear & Soft Furnishings 147,739 153,630 152,320 99.1% 172,942 166,345 96.2%

07B Furniture Manufacture 196,738 206,216 200,643 97.3% 224,302 221,738 98.9%

08A Communications 0 0  n/a 0 0 0.0%

08B Printing & Publishing 14,002 13,344 13,951 104.5% 10,335 11,216 108.5%

09A Engineering & Drafting 183,341 131,276 133,665 101.8% 131,327 127,711 97.2%

09B Metal & Mining 533,702 631,276 651,348 103.2% 768499 783,358 101.9%

10A Animal Care 169,017 159,643 162,042 101.5% 158,878 153,761 96.8%

10B Forestry, Farming & Landcare 26,299 18,815 19,189 102.0% 25,600 25,180 98.4%

10C Fishing 0 0  n/a 0 0 0.0%

10D Horticulture 42,447 42,462 42,020 99.0% 38,944 34,192 87.8%

11A Process Manufacturing 21,618 0 2,880 n/a 0 0 0.0%

12A Personal Service 72,339 64,809 69,493 107.2% 81,620 82,626 101.2%

12B Retail 47,503 46,492 41,373 89.0% 18,247 16,080 88.1%

13A Cooking 101,354 102,417 94,636 92.4% 86,242 87,829 101.8%

13B Hospitality 123,288 141,920 139,045 98.0% 163,821 135,424 82.7%

13C Tourism 13,920 29,940 27,382 91.5% 17,372 15,356 88.4%

13D Travel Agents 0 0  n/a 0 0 0.0%

14A Transport Trades, Storage & Associated 69,749 67,283 66,974 99.5% 34,280 43,306 126.3%

15A Electrical and Electronic Engineering 85,495 81,314 77,226 95.0% 62,642 61,038 97.4%

15B Electrical Trades 258,544 290,134 313,838 108.2% 352,426 352,310 100.0%

16A Accounting & Other Business Services 183,286 168,869 166,695 98.7% 151,261 151,095 99.9%

16B Management 129,860 104,210 105,008 100.8% 91,449 91,120 99.6%

16C Office & Clerical 172,771 159,735 151,605 94.9% 151,648 149,705 98.7%

17A Computing 346,199 306,936 291,453 95.0% 255,630 248,336 97.1%

18A Science & Technical Workers 175,362 184,693 202,267 109.5% 209,918 227,219 108.2%

19A ACE 0 0 0 n/a 0 0 0.0%

19B Adult Literacy / E 602,002 604,681 610,722 101.0% 710,000 701,589 98.8%

19C Languages 7,555 5,223 4,554 87.2% 5,000 4,202 84.0%

19D Miscellaneous 0 0 300 n/a 0 0 0.0%

19E Targeted Access & Participation Courses 127,566 189,030 187,934 99.4% 156,205 159,489 102.1%

 Totals 5,614,000 5,857,356 5,867,841 100.2% 6,148,700 6,166,700 100.3%

EBT16 Employment based training17 1,425,770 1,669,577 1,696,318 101.6% 2,068,994 2,087,056 100.9%

INT Institutional delivery18 4,188,230 4,187,779 4,171,523 99.6% 4,079,706 4,079,644 100.0%
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Note 15:  The College’s planned SCH delivery in each industry group has a corresponding census SCH delivery for 2006 that 

indicates the proportion of SCH achieved. The measure shows the actual 2006 SCH achieved (census) for contracted 

delivery (profile) expressed as a percentage over the 2006 planned SCH as detailed in the DPA. The data was sourced 

from the 2007 state AVETMISS collection set for 2006 delivery and from the DPA31 with DET.

Note 16:   The College planning matrix has two major components, employment based training that targets apprenticeships and 

traineeships, and institutional training that identifies other delivery types through the AQTF levels.

Note 17:  Employment based training is based on apprentices and trainees

Note 18:  Institutional delivery is for all enrolments other than apprentices and trainees

Table 5 shows the contracted delivery (profile) achievement and profile mix between industry categories 
and shows that in 2006 the overall College profile achievement was 100.3%. Swan TAFE has a diverse 
delivery portfolio that has a high trade/workshop component which specifically targets training for 
apprentices and trainees.  The delivery level in some industry groups for this student cohort can 
fluctuate since student attendance at a College is determined through employment which is influenced 
by business and economic considerations.  This employment based cohort shows an achievement of 
100.9%.

The institutional delivery component, which comprises of all other enrolments, achieved 100.0%, 
reflecting changes in full-time and part-time student demand in the associated industry categories.

2. Efficiency Indicator

a. Average cost per SCH for all actual College training delivery:
The overall cost per SCH is an efficiency measure that shows the aggregate unit cost of delivery 
output per SCH, based on the delivery costs (total cost of services) as detailed in the 2006 financial 
statements.

Table 6 - Aggregate unit cost per SCH

Year Target estimate cost 
per SCH

Actual 
cost per SCH

Annual percentage 
change

2003 n/a $12.78 n/a
2004 n/a $14.12 +10.48%
2005 $12.81 $13.80 -2.26%
2006 $13.95 $13.4619 -2.48%

The aggregate unit cost is calculated by determining the total cost of services, as reported in the 
College’s Statement of Financial Performance, and divided by the actual SCH delivered for contracted 
delivery (profile) and non-profile activities (sourced from the 2006 final data collection).

Delivery at Swan TAFE is diverse with a high trade/workshop component that, by its nature, incurs a 
higher delivery cost.

When comparing the average unit cost of delivery for the College to previous years, it is necessary to 
examine a range of underlying factors that can contribute to and affect delivery costs.  Delivery costs 
can vary between courses and are influenced by a range of factors that include:

• The volume and mix of delivery;

• Class size, student and market demands;

• Mode of delivery and teaching strategies employed;

• Course characteristics and target group;

• Quantum of trade/workshop delivery levels;

• Training standards and associated competency levels;

• Location, facilities, equipment; and

• Consumable costs.

Note 19:  The variance between the 2006 target estimate and the actual cost is -$0.49 (-3%). The reduction in actual SCH unit 

cost for 2006 is largely due to the discontinuation of Capital User Charge payments half way through the year.  For 

comparison purpose if the full value was paid the adjusted actual cost for 2006 would be $14.14.
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Swan TAFE

INCOME STATEMENT 2006 2005

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

Note  $  $ 

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 7  60,250,179  56,989,330 

Supplies and services 8  17,990,893  15,348,019 

Depreciation 9  5,649,580  5,195,056 

Finance costs 10  44,810  28,421 

Grants and subsidies 11  1,501,399  1,400,283 

Capital user charge 12  9,067,885  9,369,939 

Cost of sales 17  1,447,184  973,176 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 20  23,183 

Other expenses 13  6,143,071  5,061,214 

Total cost of services  102,118,183  94,365,438 

Income

Revenue

Fee for service 14  6,212,773  6,066,795 

Student fees and charges 15  7,920,320  7,081,859 

Ancillary trading 16  1,151,817  934,774 

Sales 17  1,816,043  1,324,200 

Interest revenue 18  295,625  446,644 

Other revenue 19  959,475  771,165 

Total revenue  18,356,053  16,625,438 

Gains

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 20  1,556 

Total Gains  0  1,556 

Total income other than income from 
State Government

 18,356,053  16,626,994 

NET COST OF SERVICES  (83,762,130)  (77,738,444)

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 21

State funds  77,597,860  74,422,023 

Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer  -  673,384 

Resources received free of charge  1,946,443  1,456,127 

Total income from State Government  79,544,303  76,551,534 

SURPLUS/DEFICIT FOR PERIOD  (4,217,828)  (1,186,910)

The Income Statement should be read in 
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Swan TAFE

BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2006 2006 2005

Note  $  $ 

ASSETS

Current Assets  

Cash and cash equivalents 22  1,399,410  5,713,473 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 23  325,384  697,860 

Inventories 24  421,756  465,100 

Receivables 25  2,328,282  3,321,553 

Other current assets 26  5,682,797  573,262 

Total Current  Assets  10,157,628  10,771,248 

Non-Current Assets 

Property, plant, equipment and vehicles 27  175,792,400  138,926,137 

Total Non-Current Assets  175,792,400  138,926,137 

TOTAL ASSETS  185,950,028  149,697,385 

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables 29  5,351,465  1,989,663 

Borrowings 30  194,493  140,081 

Provisions 31  6,211,093  7,825,901 

Other current liabilities 32  2,917,644  2,401,943 

Total Current Liabilities  14,674,695  12,357,587 

Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings 30  461,937  - 

Provisions 31  4,325,338  3,999,140 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  4,787,276  3,999,140 

Total Liabilities  19,461,971  16,356,727 

NET ASSETS  166,488,057  133,340,658 

Equity

Contributed equity 33  58,747,439  58,747,439 

Reserves  97,374,070  60,008,844 

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)  10,366,548  14,584,375 

TOTAL  EQUITY  166,488,057  133,340,658 

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction 
with the accompanying notes.
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Swan TAFE

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006 2006 2005

Note  $  $ 

Balance of equity at start of period  133,340,658  123,184,672 

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 33

Balance at start of period  58,747,439  58,747,439 

Balance at end of period  58,747,439  58,747,439 

RESERVES 33

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Balance at start of period  60,008,844  48,665,948 

Restated balance at start of period  60,008,897  48,665,948 

Gains/(losses) from asset revaluation  37,365,173  11,342,895 

Balance at end of period  97,374,070  60,008,844 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 
(RETAINED EARNINGS)

33

Balance at start of period  14,584,375  15,771,285 

Restated balance at start of period  14,584,375  15,771,285 

Surplus/(deficit) for the period  (4,217,828)  (1,186,910)

Balance at end of period  10,366,548  14,584,375 

Balance of equity at the end of period  166,488,057  133,340,658 

Total income and expenses for the period (a)  33,147,346  10,155,986 

The aggregate net amount attributable to each category of equity is:  deficit of $4,217,827 plus 
gains from asset revaluation of $37,365,173 (2005: deficit $1,186,910 plus gains from asset 
revaluation of $11,342,895.

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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Swan TAFE

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006 2006 2005

Note  $  $ 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Recurrent state funding - Department of Education 
and Training 

 66,495,890  68,182,737 

Net cash provided by State Government  66,495,890  68,182,737 

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits  (56,705,669)  (50,861,857)

Supplies and services  (15,864,612)  (13,937,289)

Grants and subsidies  (1,501,399)  (1,400,283)

Finance costs  (44,810)  (28,421)

Capital user charge  (4,621,554)  (9,369,939)

Cost of Goods sold  (1,403,840)  (973,176)

GST payments on purchases  (2,212,779)  (2,090,231)

Other payments  (5,892,909)  (4,709,157)

Receipts

Fee for service  6,387,234  4,252,379 

Student fees and charges   7,760,584  7,370,003 

Ancillary trading  1,151,817  934,774 

Interest received  295,624  438,789 

GST receipts on sales  644,930  797,613 

GST receipts from taxation authority  1,533,550  1,292,857 

Sales  1,816,043  1,324,200 

Other receipts  1,045,614  771,165 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 34  (67,612,176)  (66,188,573)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  72,704  319,376 

Purchase of non-current physical assets  (3,490,633)  (1,851,996)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (3,417,929)  (1,532,620)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Finance lease repayment of principal  (152,324)  (257,116)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  (152,324)  (257,116)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (4,686,539)  204,428 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  6,411,333  6,206,905 

   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF PERIOD

34  1,724,794  6,411,333 

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction 
with the accompanying notes.
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Swan TAFE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

1. Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards
 The College’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2006 have been prepared in 

accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) 
which comprise a Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (the 
Framework), Australian Accounting Standards and the Urgent Issues Group (UIG) Interpretation.

 In preparing these financial statements the College has adopted, where relevant to its operations, 
new and revised Standards and Interpretations from their operative dates as issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standard Board (AASB) and UIG.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

 (a) General Statement
 The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been prepared 

in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards. The Treasurer’s Instructions may modify 
or clarify their application, disclosure, format and wording to provide certainty and to ensure 
consistency and appropriate reporting across the public sector. 

 The Financial Administration and Audit Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative provisions 
governing the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over the Accounting 
Standards, UIG Interpretations and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board.

 Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported 
results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

 (b) Basis of Preparation
 The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical 

cost convention, modified by the revaluation of land, buildings, plant equipment which have been 
measured at fair value.

 The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently 
applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

 The judgements that have been made in the process of applying the College’s accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are 
disclosed at note 4 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’.

 The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the balance sheet date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed at note 5 ‘Key sources 
of estimation uncertainty’.

 (c) Reporting Entity
 The reporting entity comprises the College and entities listed at note 40’Related bodies’

 (d) Contributed Equity
 UIG Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ 

requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions to be designated by the Government (the 
owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can 
be recognised as equity contributions. Capital contributions (appropriations) are designated as 
contributions by owners by Treasurer’s Instruction (TI) 955 ‘Contributions by Owners made to Wholly 
Owned Public Sector Entities’ and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

 Transfer of net assets to/from other agencies are designated as contributions by owners where the 
transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. See note 33 ‘Equity’.
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(e) Income

 Revenue
 Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised 

for the major business activities as follows:

 The funds received from the Department of Education and Training in respect of the delivery of 
services forming part of the Delivery Performance Agreement have been disclosed as State Funds 
under ‘Revenues from State Government’. This revenue is recognised in the period in which the 
College meets the terms of the Agreement.

 The majority of operating revenue of the College represents revenue earned from student fees 
and charges, fee for service, ancillary services, trading activities and Commonwealth grants and 
subsidies, as well as revenue received from the Department of Education and Training as a result of 
training successfully tendered for under competitive tendering arrangements. Revenue from the sale 
of goods and disposal of other assets, and the rendering of services is recognised when the College 
has passed control of the goods or other assets, or delivery of the service to the customer.

 Sale of goods
 Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant 

risks and rewards of ownership control transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably. 

 Rendering of services
 Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of 

completion of the transaction.

 Interest
 Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. (The effective interest method which is the rate 

that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instruments is used where applicable).

 Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
 Revenue is recognised at fair value when the College obtains control over the assets comprising the 

contributions, usually when cash is received. 

 Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair 
value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined 
and the services would be purchased if not donated.

 Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obtained on the 
condition that they be expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period, and those 
conditions were undischarged as at the balance sheet date, the nature of, and amounts pertaining 
to, those undischarged conditions are disclosed in the notes.

 Gains
 Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains 

arising on the disposal of non current assets and some revaluations of non - current assets.

(f) Borrowing Costs
 Borrowing costs for qualifying assets are capitalised net of any investment income earned on the 

unexpended portion of the borrowings. Other borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

(g) Property, Plant and Equipment

 Capitalisation/Expensing of assets
 Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing over $1000 are recognised as 

assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of 
property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than $1000 are immediately expensed 
direct to the Income Statement (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which 
are significant in total).
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 Initial recognition and measurement
 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

 For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their 
fair value at the date of acquisition.

 Subsequent measurement 
 After recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and 

buildings and for all other property, plant and equipment. All items are carried at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

 Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the 
basis of current market buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When 
buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transaction, the accumulated depreciation 
is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the 
revalued amount. 

 Where market-based evidence is not available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on 
the basis of existing use. This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is 
restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the 
remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. 
Where the fair value of buildings is dependent on using the depreciated replacement cost, the gross 
carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately. 

 The revaluation of land and buildings is provided independently on an annual basis by the Department 
of Land Information (Valuation Services), to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially 
from the asset’s fair value at the balance sheet date.

 When property, plant and equipment are revalued, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against 
the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

 The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the 
existing use basis to assets. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence 
does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.

 Refer to note 27 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ for further information on revaluations.

 Depreciation
 All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated 

useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

 Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method, 
using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset 
are:

 Buildings 20 to 40 years

 Motor Vehicles, Caravans and Trailers 1 to 33 years

 Plant, Furniture and General Equipment 1 to 29 years

 Computing, Communications and Software 1 to 14 years

  
Works of art controlled by the College are classified as plant, property and equipment which is 
anticipated to have a very long and indefinite useful lives. Their service potential has not, in any 
material sense, been consumed during the reporting period and so no depreciation has been 
recognised.
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(h) Intangible Assets

 Capitalisation/Expensing of assets
 All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired 

at no cost or for nominal consideration, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

 The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. At the time of the reporting the College 
had no intangible assets.

 (i) Impairment of Assets
 Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are tested for any indication of 

impairment at each balance sheet date. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount 
is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the 
College is a not for profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

 The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially 
understated or where the replacement cost is falling. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually 
to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of 
asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

 Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at each balance sheet date irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

 The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell 
and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at 
fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based 
evidence.

 Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of 
impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairments at each balance sheet date.

  See note 28 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing. See note 2(p) and 
note 25 for impairment of receivables.

 (j) Non current Assets (or Disposal Groups) Classified as Held for Sale
 Non current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and 

fair value less costs to sell and are presented separately from other assets in the Balance Sheet. Assets 
classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

 (k) Leases
 Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised as assets and liabilities equal in amount to 

the fair value of the lease item or if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, determined 
at the inception of the lease. The assets are disclosed as plant, equipment and vehicles under lease, and 
are depreciated over the period during which the College is expected to benefit from their use. Minimum 
lease payments are apportioned between finance charge and reduction of the outstanding lease liability, 
according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.

 The College has a Finance lease arrangement for Multi Function Devices over 4 years.

 (l) Financial Instruments
 The College has two categories of financial instrument:

 • Loans and receivables (includes cash and term deposits); and

 • Non trading financial liabilities (Finance leases, payables) 

 Initial recognition and measurement of finacial instrument is at fair value which normally equates to the 
transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised costs using the effective interest 
method.

 The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because 
there is no interest rate appliable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting 
is not material.
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(m) Cash and cash equivalents
 For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and 

cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of 
three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject 
to insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdraft. 

(n) Accrued Salaries
 Accrued salaries (see note 32 ‘Other Liabilities’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the 

end of the financial year, as the end of the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide 
with the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year 
end. The College considers the carrying amount to be equivalent to its net fair value.

(o) Inventories
 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and the net realisable value. Costs are assigned by 

the method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on 
a first in first out basis.

 Inventories not held for resale are valued at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case 
they are valued at net realisable value. See note 24 ‘inventories’

(p) Receivables
 Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any 

uncollectible amounts (impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written off. The allowance for uncollectible 
amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the College will not be able 
to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 
30 days. See note 2(l) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 25 ‘Receivables’.

(q) Payables
 Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the College becomes obliged to make future 

payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value, as they are generally settled within 30 days. See note 2(l) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 29 
‘Payables’.

(r) Borrowings
 All loans are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the net proceeds received. Subsequent 

measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. See note 2(l) ‘Financial 
Instruments’ and note 30 ‘Borrowings’.

(s) Provisions
 Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present 

legal, equitable or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is probable and can be measured reliably. Provisions are 
reviewed at each balance sheet date. See note 31 ‘Provisions’.
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(i) Provisions - Employee benefits

 Annual Leave and Long Service Leave
 The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the 

end of the balance sheet date is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected 
to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Annual and long service leave expected to be settled 
more than 12 months after the end of the balance sheet date is measured at the present value 
of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Leave liabilities are in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the balance sheet date.

 When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels including non salary components such as employer superannuation contributions. In 
addition, the long service leave liability also considers the experience of employee departures and 
periods of service.

 The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the balance sheet date on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.

 All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities 
as the College does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the balance sheet date.

 Superannuation 
 The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers the following superannuation 

schemes.

 Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now closed 
to new members or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum 
scheme also closed to new members. 

 The College has no liabilities under the Pension or the GSS Schemes. The liabilities for the unfunded 
Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS Scheme transfer benefits due to members who transferred 
from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS Scheme obligations are 
funded by concurrent contributions made by the College to the GESB. The concurrently funded part 
of the GSS Scheme is a defined contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish all liabilities 
in respect of the concurrently funded GSS Scheme obligations.

 Employees who are not members of either the Pension or the GSS Schemes become non 
contributory members of the West State Superannuation (WSS) Scheme, an accumulation scheme. 
The College makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with 
the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. The WSS 
Scheme is a defined contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish all liabilities in respect 
of the WSS Scheme.

 The GESB makes all benefit payments and is recouped by the Treasurer for the employer share 
in respect of the Pension and GSS Scheme transfer benefits. See also note 2(t) ‘Superannuation 
expense’.

(ii) Provisions -Other

 Employment On Costs 
 Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and 

are recognised as separate liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has 
occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as 
part of the College’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘employment 
on-costs provision’. See note 13 ‘Other expenses’ and note 31 ‘Provisions’.
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(t) Superannuation Expense
 The following elements are included in calculating a superannuation expense in the Income 

Statement:

 (a) Defined benefit plans - Change in the unfunded employer’s liability (i.e. current service cost 
and actuarial gains and losses) assumed by the Treasurer in respect of current employees who are 
members of the Pension Scheme and current employees who accrued a benefit on transfer from 
that Scheme to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS); and

 (b) Defined contribution plans - Employer contributions paid to the GSS and the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS).

 Defined benefit plans - in order to reflect the true cost of services, the movements (i.e. current 
service cost and, actuarial gains and losses) in the liabilities in respect of the Pension Scheme 
and the GSS transfer benefits are recognised as expenses. As these liabilities are assumed by the 
Treasurer (refer not 2(s)(i), a revenue titled ‘Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer’ equivalent to the 
expense is recognised under Income from State Government in the Income Statement (See note 21 
‘Income from State Government’).

 The superannuation expense does not include payment of pensions to retirees, as this does not 
constitute part of the cost of services provided in the current year.

 The GSS scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole of 
government reporting. However, apart from the transfer benefit, it is a defined contribution plan for 
agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the agency 
to GESB extinguishes all agency’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.

(u) Resources Received Free of Charge or for Nominal Cost
 Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost which can be reliably measured are recognised 

as revenues and as assets or expenses, as appropriate at fair value.

(v) Comparative Figures
 Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented 

in the current financial year. 

3. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
 Approximately 70% of the college funding is under an agreement with the state government for 

delivery of training with an additional 42% of other revenue from students associated with this 
delivery. The college therefore has a high dependence on government for the continued delivery of 
training services.

 The level of service provided to government is negotiated annually with modification for growth or 
reduction to areas forming part of the overall strategic plan of the college.

 Investment of cash and cash equivalents are held in accordance with Treasury approval to operate 
bank accounts (predominantly AAA rated).

 Maximum benefit is achieved through investing in the short term money market facilities offered 
through the college bank, plus acceptable interest rates on the colleges trading account.

 Receivables are unsecured requiring prompt follow up with reminder letters and subsequent referral 
to a debt collection agency. Refer note 2 (p) for further details.

4. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies
 Adoption of fair value versus cost basis for plant and equipment. There were no other significant 

judgements made that would materially alter the current financial results of the college.
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5. Key sources of estimation uncertainty
 The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 

at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material  adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include:

 Student receivables under 60 days due are considered collectable and a provision is made for the 
full value of those which are greater.

 General receivables from other government agencies are considered risk free (no allowance for 
doubtful debt) and all others are by individual assessment with an allowance to the full value if 
required.

 Inventory stocks (bookshops) are ordered on a just in time basis to match current year teaching 
requirements. Obsolescence is considered less than 5% of annual trading purchases and therefore 
no provision is made.

 College revalues its Land & Buildings every year and Plant & Equipment every 3 years during which 
time estimates of useful life are provided to give guidance on depreciation rates used in intervening 
years.

 No provision has been made for sick leave as the college annual costs do not exceed the annual 
value of entitlements.

 Included in ‘Current-other liabilities’ is a value refundable to the Department of Education and 
Training for under delivery in its training programs.

 An estimation has been made based on student information held at year end with final results 
determined by the Department in the following year.

6. Disclosure of changes in Accounting Policy and Estimates

 Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
 The College has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and UIG Interpretations 

effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006.

 1. AASB 119 ‘Employee Benefits’ as issued in December 2004, AASB 2004-3 ‘Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards’ and AASB 2005-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards’ [AASB 119]’. The revisions to AASB 119 and the amending Standards deal with options 
regarding the recognition of actuarial gains and losses associated with defined benefit plans and 
changes to disclosures for defined benefit plans. The College is not affected by these changes and 
as a result there is no financial impact in applying these Standards. 

 2. AASB 2005-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ [AASB 4, AASB1023, AASB 
139 & AASB 132]’ (Financial guarantee contracts). The amendment deals with the treatment of 
financial guarantee contracts, credit insurance contracts, letters of credit or credit derivative default 
contracts as either an ‘insurance contracts’ under AASB 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ or as a financial 
guarantee contract under AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’.  
The College does not currently undertake these types of transactions, resulting in no financial impact 
in applying the Standard. 

 3. UIG Interpretation 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease’. This Interpretation 
deals with arrangements that comprise a transaction or a series of linked transactions that may 
not involve a legal form of a lease but by their nature are deemed to be leases for the purposes of 
applying AASB 117 ‘Leases’. At balance date, the College has not entered into any arrangements 
as specified in the Interpretation, resulting in no impact in applying the Interpretation. 

 The following accounting standards and interpretations are not applicable to the College as they have no impact. 

 AASB Standards and Interpretations:

 2005-1  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ (AASB 139 - Cash Flow hedge accounting of forecast   

  intragroup transactions)

 2005-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ [AASB 1 and AASB 139]

 2006-1  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ [AASB 121]

 2006-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ [AASB 1]

 2006-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ [AASB 1045]

 UIG 5 Rights to Interest arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds’.

 UIG 6 Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market - Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment’.
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 Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative. 
 The College cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or UIG Interpretation unless 

specifically permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements’ Consequently, the College has not applied the following Australian Accounting 
Standards and UIG Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective. These will be 
applied from their application date:

 1. AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ (including consequential amendments in AASB 2005-
10 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 132, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, 
AASB 133, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]. This Standard requires new disclosures 
in relation to financial instruments. The Standard is considered to result in increased disclosures, 
both quantitative and qualitative of the College’s exposure to risks, enhanced disclosure regarding 
components of the College’s financial position and performance, and possible changes to the way 
of presenting certain items in the financial statements. The College does not expect any financial 
impact when the Standards is first applied, The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting 
periods beginning or after 1 January 2007. 

 2. AASB 2005-10 ‘ Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AASB 132, AASB 101 
AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023, & AASB 1038)’. The 
amendments are as a result of the issue of AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure’, which amends 
the financial instrument disclosure requirements in these standards. The College does not expect 
any financial impact when the Standard is first applied. This Standard is required to be applied to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. 

 3. UIG 9 ‘Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives’. This Interpretation requires an embedded 
derivatives that has been combined with a non-derivatives to be separated from the host contract 
and accounted for as a derivatives in certain circumstances. At balance sheet date, the College 
has not entered into any contracts as specified in the Interpretation resulting in no impact when the 
Interpretation is first applied. The Interpretation is required to be applied to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 June 2006. 

 4. AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’. This Standard was revised and issued in 
October 2006 so that AASB 101 has the same requirements as IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial 
Statements’ (as issued by the IASB) in respect of for-profit entities. The College is a not-for-profit 
entity and consequently does not expect any financial impact when the Standards is first applied. 
The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2007. 

 The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are not applicable to the College as they will have no impact:

 AASB Standards and Interpretations

 AASB 1049 Financial Reporting of General Government Sectors by Governments’

 2006-2  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AASB 1)

 2006-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AASB 1045) [As per advise by DTF verbally - 21 Nov 2006]

 UIG 7  Applying the Restatement Approach under AASB 129 ‘Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economics’.

 UIG 8 Scope of AASB 2’

 UIG 10  Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment’,

 Changes in Accounting Estimates
 From 2007 the College will be adopting an increased asset capitalisation threshold 

from $1000 to $5000. 
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7. Employee benefits expense
  2006 ($) 2005 ($)

Wages and salaries (a) 50,560,984 46,125,699

Superannuation - defined contribution plans (West State) (b) 3,203,964  3,216,928  

Superannuation - defined benefit plans (Gold State) (c)(d) 1,877,178  2,121,243

Long service leave (e) 1,544,310  1,628,154

Annual leave (e) 2,740,644  3,616,259 

Other   323,099  281,048

TOTAL  60,250,179   56,989,330 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefit tax component.

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State (contribution paid).

(c) Defined benefit plans include Pension scheme, Gold State (pre-transfer benefit) and Gold State (ongoing).

(d) An equivalent notional income is also recognised (see note 21 ‘Income from State Government’).

(e) Includes a superannuation contribution component.

Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance are included at note 13 Other expenses’.  

The employment on-costs liability is included at note 31 ‘Provisions’

8. Supplies and services
 

Consumables and minor equipment  4,611,752  4,376,910

Communication expenses  890,475  822,262

Utilities expenses  1,348,522  1,536,852

Consultancies and contracted services  6,567,062  5,523,665

Minor works  1,935,287  913,745

Repairs and maintenance  400,486  213,457

Operating lease and hire charges  483,735  462,826

Travel and passenger transport  317,734  273,017

Advertising and public relations  601,944  338,403

Supplies and services - other  833,895  886,881

TOTAL  17,990,893  15,348,019  

9. Depreciation

Buildings  2,888,627   2,741,281

Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers  232,231   270,210

Plant, furniture and general equipment  1,233,488   940,280

Computers and communication network  1,295,233   1,243,286

Total depreciation  5,649,580   5,195,056  

10. Finance costs

Finance lease finance charges 44,810   28,421

TOTAL  44,810   28,421  
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11. Grants and subsidies

  2006 ($) 2005 ($) 

Payments to non TAFE Providers for VET service delivery  4,832  7,152

Apprentices and trainees (travel, accommodation and other off the job assistance) 1,491,880  1,328,442

Other   4,687  64,689

TOTAL  1,501,399   1,400,283  

 

12. Capital user charge
 

Capital user charge expense 9,067,885  9,369,939

TOTAL  9,067,885  9,369,939  

The Government applies a levy for the use of its capital for the delivery of services. It is applied at 8% per annum on the 

net assets of the College, excluding exempt assets, and is paid to the Department of Treasury and Finance quarterly. 

(2005 rate 8%) 

13. Other expenses 

Building Maintenance  1,306,025   1,087,092

Doubtful debts expense  448,837   351,997

Employment on-costs (a)  4,047,437   3,408,761

Donations  14,965   14,381

Student prizes and awards  26,222   20,945

Losses and write-offs   24   60

Other    299,561   177,978

TOTAL  6,143,071   5,061,214  

(a) Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-cost. The on-costs liability associated with the 

recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 31 Provisions. Superannuation contributions accrued as 

part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs. 

14. Fee for service 
 

Fee for service -general 1,578,508  1,445,515

Fee for service -Department of Education and Training 590,596  684,462

Fee for service - government (other than Department of Education and Training) 819,098  1,073,795

Adult Community Education fees 431,238  459,038

International Division fees 2,564,735  2,209,129

Fee for service - other 228,597  194,855

TOTAL  6,212,773  6,066,795  

15. Student fees and charges 

 

Tuition fees 5,312,379  4,552,293

Enrolment fees 661,087  604,893

Resource fees 1,922,688  1,858,466

Other college fees 24,165  66,207

TOTAL  7,920,320  7,081,859  

 



77

Annual Report 2006

16. Ancillary trading 
  2006 ($) 2005 ($)  
Live works (not a trading activity)  707,795   631,003

Contracting and consulting  150,998   26,961

Other ancillary revenue  293,025   276,810

TOTAL   1,151,817   934,774  

 

17. Trading Profit/(Loss) 

 (a) Bookshop:   
Sales   1,512,448   1,324,200

Cost of sales: 

 Opening inventory (465,100) (444,498) 

 Purchases (1,241,292) (993,777) 

 TOTAL (1,706,392) (1,438,276) 

 Closing inventory (421,756) (465,100)

Cost of goods sold  (1,284,636)  (973,176)

Trading Profit - Bookshop   227,812   351,024  

See note 2(o) ‘Inventories’ and note 24 ‘Inventories’ 

 

 (b) Cafeteria (Non Training Related) 
Sales   303,596  -

Cost of sales: 

 Purchases (162,548) -

Cost of goods sold (162,548) -

Trading Profit - Cafeteria  141,048 -

Total Trading Profit  368,860   351,024  

 

18. Interest Revenue 
 

Interest Revenue  295,624   446,644

Interest from bank trading account, short term deposits and deposits with the Treasury Corporation. 

 

19. Other revenue 
 

Rental and facilities fees  444,276   485,911 

Other direct grants and subsidy revenue  150,000   -

Copyright and royalties revenue  40,140   18,180

Sponsorship and donations revenue  7,287   8,850

Miscellaneous revenue   317,772   258,224

TOTAL  959,475   771,165  
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20. Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets 
  2006 ($) 2005 ($)  
Costs of disposal of non-current assets 

Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers  (48,955)  (261,907)

Plant, furniture and general equipment  (27,975)  (3,598)

Computers and communication network  (18,957)  (52,315)

TOTAL  (95,887)  (317,820) 

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets 

Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers  60,664   254,073

Plant, furniture and general equipment  11,351   5,435

Computers and communication network  689   59,868

TOTAL  72,704   319,376  

Net gain/(loss)  (23,183)  1,556  

See also note 2(j) Non current Assets (or Disposal Groups) Classified as Held for Sale and 27 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ 

21. Income from State government 
 
State funds (received from Department of Education and Training) 

Delivery and Performance Agreement (DPA)  59,685,541   54,991,032

Superannuation   5,080,791   4,664,787  

Other recurrent funds  2,816,581   5,396,265

Capital User Charge funding   9,067,885   9,369,939

Capital works transferred   947,063   - 

TOTAL   77,597,860   74,422,023  

The following liabilities have been assumed by the Treasurer during the financial year. 

Superannuation (a) - 673,384 

Total Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer -  673,384  

Resources received free of charge determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies 

Department of Education and Training (b) 

 * Corporate systems support 1,490,742  735,040 

 * Marketing and publications 430,261  436,219

 * Human resources, industrial relations support 2,760  24,000 

 * Other 22,680  260,868 

TOTAL  1,946,443  1,456,127  

(a) The assumption of the superannuation liability by the Treasurer is a nominal income to match the notional superannuation  

expense reported in respect of current employees who are members of the Pension Scheme and current employees who have 

a transfer benefit entitlement under the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (The notional superannuation expense is disclosed 

at note 13 ‘Employee Benefits Expense’.)

(b) Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal consideration, the College recognises revenues 

(except where the contribution of assets or services is in the nature of contributions by owners, in which case the College shall 

make a direct adjustment to equity) equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be 

reliably determined and which would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised as assets or 

expenses, as applicable. 
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22. Cash and cash equivalents 
  2006 ($) 2005 ($)

Cash on hand  27,607  39,942  

Cash advances 9,409  6,445  

Cash at bank 1,262,393  1,516,593  

Short term deposits  100,000  4,848,353  

TOTAL  1,399,410  6,411,333  

23. Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
 

Current 

Specific capital equipment, minor works, and 27th pay (a) 325,384  697,860

TOTAL  325,384  697,860  

(a) Allocation of cash for future commitment of 27th pay in 2014 $184,762 

Capital Grants received from DET in 2006 yet to be acquitted $140,622 

24. Inventories 

 

Inventories held for resale: 

 Bookshop (at cost)  421,756   465,100

See note 2(o) ‘Inventories’ and note 17 ‘Trading profit’ 

25. Receivables 
 

Current 

Receivables - trade 1,695,090  1,869,550

Receivables - students 841,847  681,546

Receivables - other -  100

Allowance for impairment of receivables (871,208) (621,047)

GST receivable 235,921  957,154

TOTAL  1,901,650  2,887,304

Prepayments 426,632  434,250

TOTAL  2,328,282  3,321,553  

See note 2(p) ‘Receivables’ and note 37 ‘Financial Instruments’ 

 

26. Other Current assets 
 

Accrued income 5,682,797  573,262

TOTAL  5,682,797  573,262  
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27. Property, plant, equipment 
  2006 ($) 2005 ($)

Freehold Land 

At fair value (a)  32,750,000   20,310,000

Accumulated impairment losses

   32,750,000   20,310,000

Buildings 

At fair value (a)  133,002,288   112,474,692

Accumulated depreciation   (592,467)  (3,048,533)

   132,409,821   109,426,158

Buildings under construction 

Construction costs 394,483   - 

  394,483   -

Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers  

At fair value 1,855,880   1,684,904 

Accumulated depreciation (687,687)  (493,916)

  1,168,193   1,190,988 

Plant, furniture and general equipment 

At cost    9,690,335   8,112,971  

Accumulated depreciation (3,538,842)  (2,494,749)

  6,151,492   5,618,222 

Leased plant, furniture and general equipment 808,755   - 

Accumulated depreciation (165,629)  -

   643,126   -

Computer equipment, communication network 

At cost    5,686,453   4,610,742

Accumulated depreciation (3,431,669)  (2,387,869)

  2,254,784   2,222,873 

Leased computer equipment and communication network -   512,935 

Accumulated depreciation -   (375,539)

  -  137,396

Works of art  

At valuation  20,500  20,500

  175,792,400  138,926,137
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(a) Freehold land and buildings were revalued as at December 2006 by the Department of Land Information (Valuation Services). 

The fair value of all land and buildings was determined by reference to market values. See note 2(g) ‘Property, plant and 

equipment’.

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment and vehicles at the beginning and end of the reporting 

period are set out below: 

 Land Buildings Equipment Motor vehicles,  Plant furniture Computer equipment Works TOTAL 

   Under caravans &  & general  Communication  of Art 

2006   Construction trailers equipment network

Carrying amount 

at start of year  20,310,000   109,426,158   -   1,190,989   5,618,222   2,360,269   20,500  138,926,137 

Additions  -   -   -   313,268   1,953,788   3,693,836   5,960,892

Impairment     (54,877)  (323,088)  (1,670,884)  (2,048,848)

Transfer  -   947,063   -      947,063 

Disposal  -   -   -   (87,415)  (53,337)  (275,912)  (416,664)

Revaluation Increments  12,440,000   24,925,227   -   -   -   -   37,365,227 

Depreciation expense  -   (2,888,627)  -   (232,231)  (1,068,494)  (1,209,399)   (5,398,752)

Other    394,483   38,460   24,401     457,345

Carrying amount 

at end of year   32,750,000   132,409,820   394,483   1,168,194   6,151,493   2,897,910   20,500   175,792,400  

  

2005 

Carrying amount 

at start of year  16,575,000   104,559,544   74,272   1,245,834   5,854,081   2,914,890   20,500  131,244,121

Additions  -   -   -   477,271   632,747   740,979   1,850,997 

Disposals  -   -   -   (261,907)  (2,598)  (52,315)  (316,820)

Revaluation Increments  3,735,000   7,607,895        11,342,895 

Depreciation expense  -   (2,741,281)  -   (270,210)  (940,280)  (1,243,286)  (5,195,056)

Other   -   -   (74,272)  -   74,272     -  

Carrying amount 

at end of year   20,310,000   109,426,158   (0)  1,190,989   5,618,222   2,360,269   20,500   138,926,137  

28. Impairment of Assets 
There were no indications of impairment of property plant, equipment and intangibles as at 31 December 
2006. 

The College held no goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite useful life during the reporting period 
and at balance sheet date there were no intangible assets not yet available for use. 

All surplus assets as at 31 December 2006 have been classified as assets held for sale or written off.

29. Payables 
  2006 ($) 2005 ($)

Current  

Trade payables 823,291  1,155,494

GST payable 81,843  834,169

Capital User Charge payable 4,446,331  - 

TOTAL  5,351,465  1,989,663  

See also note 2(q) ‘Payables’ and note 37 ‘Financial Instruments’
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30. Borrowings 
  2006 ($) 2005 ($)

Current 

Finance lease liabilities (secured) (a)  194,493   140,081

Total current  194,493   140,081  

Non-Current 

Finance lease liabilities (secured) (a)  461,937   - 

Total non-current  461,937   -  

(a) Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default. 

Assets pledged as security 

The carrying amounts of non-current assets pledged as security are: 

Finance leases 

Leased computer equipment and communication network  -   137,396  

Leased office equipment  808,755   -  

   808,755   137,396  

31. Provisions
 
Current 

Employee benefits provision

Annual leave (a) 1,469,562   2,835,503  

Long service leave (b) 4,312,965   4,450,411 

  5,782,528   7,285,914 

Other provisions 

Employment on-costs (c)  428,565   539,987  

Total current  6,211,093   7,825,901  

Non-current 

Employee benefits provision 

Long service leave (b) 3,944,602   3,689,007

Salary deferment 88,386   36,726

  4,032,988   3,725,733  

Other provisions 

Employment on-costs (c)   292,350   273,407  

Total non current  4,325,338   3,999,140  
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31. Provisions (cont’d)
  2006 ($) 2005 ($)

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 

months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follow: 

Within 12 months of balance sheet period 1,366,176  

More than 12 months after balance sheet date.  103,386  

   1,469,562   -  

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current 
where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at 
least 12 months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate 
that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows: 

With in 12 months of balance sheet date 3,471,841  1,100,000  

More than 12 months of balance sheet date 4,785,726  7,039,418  

  8,257,567  8,139,418  

 

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities 
gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including 
payroll tax and workers compensation premiums. The provision 
is the present value of expected future payments. The associated 
expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), 
is disclosed in note 13 ‘Other expenses’.

Movements in Other Provisions 
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, 
other than employee benefits, are set out below. 

Employment on-cost provision 

Carrying amount at start of year  813,394   700,145  

Additional provisions recognised  (92,479)  113,249  

Carrying amount at end of year  720,915   813,394  

 

32. Other liabilities 
 

Current  

Income received in advance (a)  609,248   447,956

Grants and advances (provide details)  313,248   842,858

Accrued expenses  1,153,817   490,693

Accrued salaries and related costs  737,495   542,788

Money/deposits held in trust  103,837   77,647

   2,917,644   2,401,943  

(a) Income received in advance comprises: 

Fee for service  154,708   127,070  

Student fees and charges   263,308   179,320  

Other   191,232   141,566  

   609,248   447,956  
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33. Equity
  2006 ($) 2005 ($)

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the 
College. The Government holds the equity interest in the College 
on behalf of the community. The asset revaluation reserve 
represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation 
of non-current assets. 

 

Contributed equity 

Balance at start of year  58,747,439   58,747,439

Balance at end of year  58,747,439   58,747,439  

 

Reserves 

Asset Revaluation Reserve 

Balance at start of year 60,008,844  48,665,948

Land   12,440,000  3,735,000

Buildings 24,925,227  7,607,895

Balance at end of year 97,374,070  60,008,844  

 

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (Retained Earnings) 

Balance at start of year  14,584,375   15,771,285

Result for the period  (4,217,827)  (1,186,910)

Balance at end of year  10,366,548   14,584,375  

 

34. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement 

 

Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year, as shown in the Cash Flow 
Statement is reconciled to the related items in the Balance Sheet 
as follows: 

Cash on hand  27,607  39,942

Cash advances 9,409  6,445

Cash at bank 1,262,393  818,733

Short term deposits  100,000  4,848,353

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,399,410  5,713,473  

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 325,384  697,860 

(refer to note 23 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents)

TOTAL  1,724,794   6,411,333  
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Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by / (used in) operating activities 

 

Net Cost of Services   (83,762,130)  (77,738,444) 

Non-cash items: 

Depreciation expense (note 9 )  5,649,580   5,195,056  

Capital User Charge (note 12)  4,446,331  

Doubtful debts expense (note 13)  250,162   351,997  

Superannuation expense (note 7)  5,081,142   6,011,555  

Resources received free of charge (Note 21)  1,946,443   1,456,127  

Net (gain) / loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (note 20)  23,183   (1,556) 

 

(Increase)/decrease in assets: 

Current receivables (c)  21,877   (1,534,068) 

Current inventories  43,344   (20,601) 

Other current assets  (57,592) 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities 

Current payables (c)  (328,996)  515,585  

Current provisions  (1,614,808)  887,150  

Other current liabilities  339,798   (417,817) 

Non-current Provisions  326,199   (836,204) 

 

Net GST receipts/(payments) (a)  (1,567,849)  (1,292,618) 

Change in GST in receivables/payables (b)  1,533,550   1,292,857  

 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  (67,612,176)  (66,188,573) 

 

(a) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions 

(b) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables 

(c) Note that the ATO receivable /payable in respect in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in 

these items as they are not reconciling items 

 

35. Commitments 
 

Finance lease commitments 

Minimum lease payment commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows: 

Within 1 year  231,319   147,724  

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  504,466   -  

Minimum lease payments  735,785   147,724  

Less future finance charges   (79,354)  (7,643) 

Present value of finance lease liabilities  656,431   140,081  

 

Included in the financial statements as: 

Current (note 30)  194,494   140,081  

Non-current (note 30)  461,937   -  

TOTAL   656,431   140,081  

These commitments are all inclusive of GST 
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36. Explanatory Statement 
 
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense are shown below. Significant variations are 
considered to be those greater than 10% or $250,000.  
 
Significant variations between estimated and actual results for 2006 
  2006 Estimate ($)   2006 Actual ($) Variation ($) 
Expenses
Employee expenses  54,107,428   60,250,179   6,142,751  

Additional SCH received in 2006 added $2M. Due to a system issue 
the original estimate did not include a 3.6% salary increase for  
cademic Staff $939,000 and Heads of Program positions $1,097,000.

Supplies and services  16,613,002   17,990,893   1,377,891  

Increase in Minor Building Works and renovations of buildings 
$591,000, funding to ETSSC for Contracted Services $446,000 
and student material $570,000. 
 
Depreciation expense  5,315,009   5,649,580   334,571  
Increase in purchase of computer equipment resulted in 
increased depreciation. 
 
Grant & Subsidies  900,000   1,501,399   601,399  
Increase students in apprentice resulted in higher apprentice 
travel expense. 
 
Capital User Charge  9,519,747   9,067,885   (451,863) 
The final CUC for 06/07 financial year was less than the estimates.  
 
Other Expenses  5,190,316   6,143,071   952,755  
Payroll tax expenses increased by $697,000 relating to increase 
in salaries. Doubtful debts provision also increased by $273,000. 
 
Income 
Fee for service  4,517,990   6,212,773   1,694,783  

Increase in tuition fees due to increase in number of students in 2006. 
 
Student fees and charges  6,928,949   7,920,320   991,371  
Increased student numbers across the College. 
 
Interest revenue  438,300   295,624   (142,676) 
Reduction in College cash reserves. 
 
Ancillary trading  860,718   1,151,817   291,099  
Increase due to increased sales in Fashion Shop $69,000, 
Live Work $97,000 and Scrap Metal $21,000. Grants received 
for Curriculum $67,000 not budgeted for. 

Sale   1,245,000   1,816,043   571,043  
Increased bookshop sales due to increased number of students and 
College take over of cafeteria operations from an outsourced 
function $303,596 in 2006.  

Other Revenue  408,045   959,475   551,430  
DEGEM equipment grant $150,000 and Miscellaneous Revenue 
higher than predicted. 
 
State Funds  70,614,409   77,597,860   6,983,451  

Delivery funding increased due to additional SCH received in 
2006 $4m. Capital Works transferred $947,063 and Superannuation 
expense $727,000.  
 
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer  680,000   -   (680,000) 
Significant decrease in liability as advised by Superannuation Board. 
 
Resources received free of charge  1,500,000   1,946,443   446,443  
Increase in general corporate support by the 
Education Dept to the College. 
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Significant Variances between actual results for 2006 and 2005 

   2006 ($)  2005 ($)  Variance ($)

Expense

Employee expenses  60,250,179   56,989,330   3,260,849  

Reflects the wage increases for Lecturing and Non Lecturing staff. 

 

Supplies and services  17,990,893   15,348,019   2,642,874  

Increase due to Minor Works $752,000, Repairs and Minor 
Equipment expenditure of $270,000. Student Materials $425,000, 
ETSSC for Contracted Services $418,818, resources received free 
of charge from DET $446,443 and other contract and services such 
as cleaning etc $492,000 . 

Depreciation expense  5,649,580   5,195,056   454,524  

Increase due to inclusion of depreciation expense for Multi Function 
Devices $165,629, revaluation of buildings $147,346 and increase in 
plant and equipment fleet $127,580. 

 

Capital User Charge  9,067,885   9,369,939   (302,055) 

The final CUC for 06/07 financial year was less than the 2005 actuals.  

 

Other Expenses  6,143,071   5,061,214   1,081,857  

Other staffing costs associated with employee expenses increased 
by $638,000. Repairs and Maintenance increased by $219,000. 

 

Income 

Student fees and charges  7,920,320   7,081,859   838,461  

Increased student numbers across the College. 

 

Interest revenue  295,624   446,644   (151,020) 

Reduction in College cash reserves. 

 

Ancillary trading  1,151,817   934,774   217,043  

Increase due to increased sale for Live Work $76,000, Curriculum 
Grants received not budgeted $67,000 and Contracting and 
Consultancy $55,000 received more than expected. 

 

Other Revenue  959,475   771,165   188,310  

DEGEM equipment grant received $150,000. 

 

Sales   1,816,043   1,324,200   491,843  

Increased bookshop sales due to increased number of students 
and College take over of cafeteria operations from an outsourced 
function $303,596 in 2006.  

 

State Funds  77,597,860   74,422,023   3,175,837  

Delivery funding is up $4,570,000 as a consequence of CPI and

wage rises and meeting targets in 2006. Non DPA grants decreased 
by $2,163,000. Capital Works transferred from DET in 2006 $947,063. 

 

Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer  673,384   (673,384) 

Decrease in liability as advised by Superannuation Board. 

 

Resources reveived free of charge  1,946,443   1,456,127   490,316  

Increase in general corporate support by the 
Education Dept to the College. 
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37. Financial Instruments 

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

Financial instruments held by the College are cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables. The College has limited 

exposure to financial risks. The College’s overall risk management program focus on managing the risk identified below: 

 

Credit Risk 

The College trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The College has policies in place to ensure that sales of 

products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition receivable balances are monitored 

on an ongoing basis with the result that the College’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. There are no significant concentrations 

of credit risk. 

 Liquidity risk 

The College has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds 

are available to meet its commitments. 

 

Cash flow interest rate risk 

The College’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates is low and primarily relates to funds on mid-term deposit. 

 

Interest Rate Risk Exposure 

The following table details the College’s exposure to interest rate risk at reporting date.

 

Fixed Interest Rate Maturity 

 

 Weighted Average  Variable  Within 1  Non-Interest Total  

 Effective Interest Rate Interest Rate year Bearing 

 2006  % $000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalent 6.01% 1,300   100   -  1,400

Restricted cash and cash equivalent   325    -  325

Receivables   -   2,328  2,328 

TOTAL  1,625  100  2,328  4,053

Financial Liabilities 

Payables   -   5,351  5,351

Finance Lease Liabilities 5.61% 194    -  194

TOTAL  194   -  5,351  5,545  

2005

Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalent 5.50%  865   4,848  -   5,713

Restricted cash and cash equivalent  5.50%  697    -   697 

Receivables   -    2,887   2,887 

TOTAL   1,562   4,848  2,887   9,297  

Financial Liabilities 

Payables   -    1,990   1,990 

Finance Lease Liabilities 7.70% 140   -   140  

TOTAL   140   -   1,990   2,130  

 

  2006 ($) 2005 ($)
Recognised Financial Assets 

Receivables 2,328,282  2,887,304  

 

Net Fair Values 

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements are not materially 

different from their net fair values. 
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38. Remuneration of Members of the Accountable Authority and Senior Officers 

Remuneration of members of the Accountable Authority 

The number of members of the Accountable Authority whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and 

other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are: 

  2006 2005
 $0- $10,000  11   13  

 $160,001 - $170,000  1   1  

 

The total remuneration of the members of the Accountable Authority is:  166,194   166,022  

 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred 
by the Authority in respect of members of the Accountable Authority. 

No members of the Accountable Authority are members of the Pension Scheme. 

 

Remuneration of Senior Officers 

The number of Senior Officers other than senior officers reported as 
members of the Accountable Authority, whose total fees, salaries, 
superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits receivable 
for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

 $110,001 - $120,000   1 

 $120,001 -$130,000 3  2    

       

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 369,367  396,562    

       

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred 

by the Authority in respect of senior officers other than senior officers 

reported as members of the Accountable Authority.      

  

No Senior Officers are members of the Pension Scheme.      

  

39. Remuneration of auditor 2006 ($) 2005 ($) 
Remuneration to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows: 88,600  80,500 

  88,600 80,500 

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance 

indicators. The Expense is included in note 8 ‘Supplies & Services’      
      
40. Related Bodies      
The College has no related bodies.      

  

41. Affiliated Bodies        
The College has no affiliated bodies.        

42. Supplementary Financial Information      

Write-Offs   

Bad Debts  198,675 288,577    

Losses Through Theft, Defaults And Other Causes      

Losses of public and other moneys and public and other 

property through theft, default or otherwise  24   60    

43. Schedule of Income and Expenditure by Service      

The college provides only one service (as defined by Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 (2) (viii)) and that is Vocational Education and 

Training Delivery.
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Financial Estimates 2007
In accordance with Treasurers Instruction 953, the annual estimates for the 2007 year are hereby 
included in the 2006 annual report.  The estimates do not form part of the 2006 financial statements 
and are not subject to audit.

Swan TAFE  Annual Estimates

INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007  2007 

Note  $ 

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits expense  61,524,612 

Supplies and services  17,963,278 

Depreciation  4,219,213 

Finance costs  37,258 

Grants and subsidies  - 

Capital user charge  4,444,216 

Cost of sales  1,184,000 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets  - 

Other expenses  5,532,862 

Total cost of services  94,905,439 

Income

Revenue

Fee for service  6,100,956 

Student fees and charges  7,925,957 

Ancillary trading  1,008,485 

Sales  1,871,996 

Interest revenue  139,998 

Other revenue  1,002,909 

Total revenue  18,050,301 

Gains

Gain on disposal of non-current assets  197,000 

Total Gains  197,000 

Total income other than income from State Government  18,247,301 

NET COST OF SERVICES    76,658,138)

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

State funds  71,508,022 

Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer  60,000 

Resources received free of charge  1,500,000 

Total income from State Government  73,068,022 

SURPLUS/DEFICIT FOR PERIOD  (3,590,116)

The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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Swan TAFE  Annual Estimates

BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2007 2007

Note  $ 

ASSETS

Current Assets  

Cash and cash equivalents  500,741 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  - 

Inventories  445,796 

Receivables  2,876,011 

Other current assets  535,018 

Total Current  Assets  4,357,566 

Non-Current Assets 

Property, plant, equipment and vehicles  169,172,622 

Total Non-Current Assets  169,172,622 

TOTAL ASSETS  173,530,188 

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables  905,130 

Borrowings  205,404 

Provisions  6,211,092 

Other current liabilities  2,428,697 

Total Current Liabilities  9,750,323 

Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings  256,533 

Provisions  4,325,338 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  4,581,871 

Total Liabilities  14,332,194 

NET ASSETS  159,197,994 

Equity

Contributed equity  58,747,439 

Reserves  97,374,123 

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)  3,076,432 

TOTAL  EQUITY  159,197,994 

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.
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Swan TAFE  Annual Estimates

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 2007

Note  $ 

Balance of equity at start of period

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

Balance at start of period  58,747,439 

Balance at end of period  58,747,439 

RESERVES

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Balance at start of period  97,374,123 

Restated balance at start of period

Gains/(losses) from asset revaluation

Balance at end of period  97,374,123 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (RETAINED EARNINGS)

Balance at start of period  10,366,548 

Changes in accounting policy or correction of prior period errors  (3,700,000)

Restated balance at start of period  6,666,548 

Surplus/(deficit) for the period  (3,590,116)

Balance at end of period  3,076,432 

Balance of equity at the end of period  159,197,994 

Total income and expenses for the period (a)  (3,590,116)

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Swan TAFE  Annual Estimates

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 2007

Note  $ 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Recurrent state funding - 
Department of Education and Training 

 71,840,103 

Net cash provided by State Government  71,840,103 

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits  (61,464,612)

Supplies and services  (16,952,286)

Finance costs  (37,258)

Capital user charge  (4,444,216)

GST payments on purchases  (2,140,000)

Other payments  (6,740,902)

Receipts

Fee for service  5,774,809 

Student fees and charges   8,477,804 

Ancillary trading  1,008,485 

Interest received  139,996 

GST receipts on sales  640,000 

GST receipts from taxation authority  1,500,000 

Other receipts  2,470,896 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  (71,767,284)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets

Purchase of non-current physical assets  (1,102,435)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (1,102,435)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Finance lease repayment of principal   (194,437)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  (194,437)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (1,224,053)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  1,724,794 

   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
AT THE END OF PERIOD

 500,741 

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction 
with the accompanying notes.
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